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EFG Private Bank Limited

Overview

Profile

EFG Private Bank Limited

~ “

EFG Private Bank Limited (the “Company” or “EFGIUK")
‘provides _banking, wealth management and investment
advisory services for pfivate clients and their corporate
interests. The Company is also active in both deposit taking
and lending, as well as transactions in securities, off-
balance sheet instruments and derivatives.

The Company has a wholly owned investment management
subsidiary in Cyprus, EFG Cyprus Ltd, as well as a branch in
Jersey, through which similar services are offered to those
of the Company. The previously wholly owned subsidiary,
Guernsey, EFG Private Bank (Channel Islands) Limited
(“EFGIG"), was sold to EFG Bank AG (‘EFG AG’) during 2021.

. L . .
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption

afforded by Section 401of the Companies Act 2006 in not .

preparing consolidated Financial Statements.
immediate parent company

The Company's immediate parent company is EFG
International AG (“EFGI"), a company incorporated in
Switzerland and listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, into which
the Company's results are consolidated (website:
www.efginternational.com). '

Highlights
i} 31 December 31 December
2022 ) 2021
) Em £m
Operating and Investing 139 142
Income .
Profit before tax 35 99
Loans and advances to 2967 2765
customers
‘Due to customers 4‘,763‘ 4:1 53
Total equity 274 267
Total assets 5890 5,055 .
Assets under management 15,758 17,590 -

(“AUM”)

AuM comprise client assets managed by EFG, plus client deposits with and
loans from EFG. The figures stated above represent AuM managed by UK-

based staff, regardless of their booking location within the EFG Group. A'uM )

booked in EFGIUK were £14,405k at 31 December 2022 (2021: £15,697k).

’

' Compariy information

‘Directors

) Reed - Chairman_ i

R Thomas - Chief Executive

G Branson (Appointed: on 1 August 2022) _

O Meredith (Appointed on 15 February 2022)
E Barnett

D Politis .

G Pradelli (Resigned as Director 18 July 2022)
S Robertson*

A Simmonds

P Hadjisotiriou (appointed 14 March 2023)

* Director of EFGI

Company secretary

. AEvans

Independent auditors
BDO LLP

Registered office
Park House

116 Park Street
London

W1K 6AP

Website: www.efgl.com

Registered number

02321802

Registered office of EFGI
EFG International AG
Bleicherweg 8

P.O. Box 6012 - 8022 Zurich
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EFG Private Bank Limited

Stratégic Report

Business review. : .
EFGIUK produced a bottom line profit of GBP 30.2 millionin 2022.0n
a like-for-like basis, this resultshows the strong growth in

undérlying performance and compares to GBP 2.3 million in 2021. At _

the same time, 2021 results were supported by one-offitems
(disposal of subsidiary and extraordinary dividend) leédingto a
reported net profit of GBP 101.2 million for 2021. Anincreasein
lending and interest rates led to an increase in net interest income
to. GBP 79.7 million (2021: GBP 46.2 miltlion). Reduced assets under
management (AUM) led to a fall in fee and commissions incometo
GBP 57.5 million (2021: GBP 60.3 million). Administrative expenses
this year have decreased to GBP 29.2 million (2021: GBP 31.8 million)
and personnel expenses fell to GBP 70.5 million (2021: GBP 74.9
million)as a result of reduced headcount. '

The robustfinancial performance was achieved despite a reduction
in net new assets of GBP 234.8 million (2021: increase of GBP 1,103.3
"million)in a challenging market for AUM. EFGIUK continued a model

of operational resilience throughoutthis period, with ongoing
contingency actions firstenacted in 2020, further improved, ensuring
no significantdisruption to the ability to provide services to clients
inan increasing “return to office” environment. Ongoing utilisation
of staff working from home through hybrid working arrangements
and digital solutions also continue to facilitate remote connections

with clients. Further details of the impactof our operatingmodel on

the Company's key risks is highlighted in the paragraphs below on
credit, employees and capital & funding.

Financial performance

The Company continued to experience very strong demand for
lendingin prime central London in 2022. This resulted in growth of
the loan book of 7.3% to GBP 2,967.1 million (2021; GBP 2,764.8
million) during the year.

The increasein net interest income of 72.5% to GBP 797 million
(2021: GBP 46.2 million), was driven by the increasein EFGIUK's loan

book, as well as interest rates rising from their historic lows in 2021, -

Net fee and commission income fell by 4.6% to GBP 57:5 million
(2021: GBP 60.3 million), as a resultof market pressures on AuM,
which fell by 10.4% to 15,758 million (2021: GBP 17,590 million).

Operating expenses were reduced by 6.8% to GBP 104.7 million (2021
GBP 112.0 million), principally due to reduced staff numbers and
associated costs. The Company's resilient performance contributed
1o a reduction in the costincomeratio to 75.1% (2021: 78.7%).

There was no significantcredit or charge to the creditimpairment
provision during the year (2021: GBP nil). The creditcommittee
monitors atl active watchlist cases.

Key financials

' ’ Yearended Year ended
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
.- ) ' £m _ Em
Operating income before dividends 139.4 122
Dividend income - 30.0
Opgrating expenses (104.7) (112.0)
P.roﬁton disposal of subsidiary B 68.9
Loss allowance on financiat assets 02 -
_ Profit before tax - 349 991

Key performance indicators .
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
£m Em
Net new assets (234.84) 1,103.32
Return on assets’ 83hps 83bps
Operating profit . 347 30.2
Costincomeratio 75% 79%

" Return on assets is calgulated as operating income less dividends over the simple average of opening and
clesing AUM booted in the Company. . .

Capital )
The Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA")supervises the Company
on a stand-alone basis.

The Common Equity Tier 1(“CET1") capital ratio decreased to 10.9%
(2021:14.8%) due to both decreased CET1 capital and increased Risk
Weighted Assets (‘RWA’). CET1capital decreased by £29.6 million to
£165.6 mitlion (2021: £195.2 million) due'to unfavourable investment
securities fair value movements through other comprehensive

_income. CreditRWA increased by £186.6 million to £1,273.5 million

(2021: £1,086.9 million) largely due to the increased mortgage book
and Treasury investmentsecurities holdings. The Total Capital Ratio
decreased to 15.2% (2021: 19.9%).

The Combany's CETtand Total Capital ratios will increase by
approximately 1.2% as a result of the change in business modél for
managing investment securities, and the resultant change to classify
the bonds to hold to coltectwhich will be effective from 1 January
2023.The reclassification on 1 January 2023 results in an increase in
shareholders equity. See note 36 for further details.

Year ended . Year ended

31December 2022 31December 2021

. Em £m
Common equity tier 1 capital 165.6 1952
Total capital . 2323 261.8
Total risk weighted assets 1,5237 1,317.8

Funding e

EFGIUX's Treasury function, in conjunction with EFGI, manages the
Company's funding and liquidity to supportthe private banking
business and manage interest rate and currency risk. in 2022 the
Company maintained a consistentand successful approach to ‘
funding by expanding our client base. '

Total fundingincreased by +18.1% to GBP 5,795.7 million (2021 GBP
4,908.6 million). This was due to a +14.7% increase in customer
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Strategic Report

deposits in the year, alongside an increasein fiduciary funding
from EFG AG clients.

Year ended ° Year ended

310ecember 2022 31 December 2021

£m £m

Customer deposits 4762.5 4528
Banks ’ 758.8 5392
Equity 2742 267.2
Total funding . 57955 4959.2

Liquidity

The Company maintains astrong liquidity position, ensuring thatit
is comfortably ahead of both its internal risk appetite and also
regulatory requirements. The Company maintains funds on deposit
with the Bank of England, and a portfolio of high-quality liquid
assets, details of which are contained below and in the notes to the
accounts.

The Company regularly assesses, and stress tests its liquidity
requirements and continues to comfortably exceed internal liquidity
limits, with the liquidity coverage ratio 0f205% at 31 December 2022
(202%: 212%). ' ‘

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2022 310ecember 2021

: £m £m

Cash & balances at central banks 12133 12443

Other banks 95.2 125.0
Investment securities:

Government 1,0055 3843

‘Banks 4819 468.5

Treasury assets 27959 2,222

Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk management

The Company acknowledges that carryingout business in the
banking and financial services industry entails risks and that events
may impact the Company’s ability to deliver on its objectives. The
Company believes that the proper management of risks is critical for
continued success.

Approach to risk management

The Company uses the three lines of defence model and there are
independent Risk and Compliance functions with clearly defined
objectives. Assurance is provided over this through an internal audit
function. There is a defined risk strategy and risk appetite, including
a risk management framework with policies, standards, and
procedures to govern risk management and the effectiveness and
efficiency of risk management is supervised by the Board of
Directors with the supportand advice of a dedicated Risk
Committee. .

The three lines ofdefence modél;

BOD
BOARD \
o "COMMITTEES
' EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE
Private Risk Control Internal
banking and Audit
Non private Compliance
banking
RISK RISK ASSURANCE
OWNERSHIP OVERSIGHT
first line of defence | | Second line ofdcfence || Third line of defente

The role of risk culture in supporting effective risk management
The Company believes that employee behaviour is key to ensure
sound risk management, and that this is guided by the risk culture
of the organisation. Accordingly, the risk culture is viewed as a core
componentof effective risk management This is facilitated through
training sessions delivered to all staff focused around raising
awareness and understanding of the Company risk culture and °
internal controls framework. This is done during onboardingand .
throughouttheir employment Financial and non-financial
in'centives.are reviewed to ensure they do not encourage excessive
risk-taking. The Board of Directors sets and approves the risk
strategy, the risk appetite, and the risk management framework of
the Company at least annually and monitors its risk profile, as well
as the effectiveness of risk management

Risks and uncertainties .
The following pages set outthe principal risks and uncertainties that
may impact the Company's ability to deliver its strategy, how it seeks
to mitigate these risks and the change in the perceived level of risk
in the year. The Company's principal activities remain unchanged
and as a result, the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Company faces and our approach to mitigating them remain broadly
consistentwith prior years. The Company also assesses new and
emerging risks (‘horizon risks’); the principal horizon risks have alsa
been broadly consistentto prior year.

This summary should notbe regarded as a complete and
comprehensive statement of all potential risks and uncertainties
faced by the Company butreflects those which the Company
currently believes may have a significantimpacton its performance
and prospects.

Credit risk .
As a lender, the Company is exposed to credittosses if customers’
are unable to repay loans and outstandinginterest and fees.

The Company also has exposure to counterparties with which it

places deposits or trades and has in placea number of derivative
contracts to hedge interest rate and foreign exchange exposures.
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We seek to minimise our exposure to creditlosses from lending by:

applyingstrict lending criteria to borrowers;

maintaining consistentand conservative loan to value ratios;

lendingon a predominantly secured basis againstidentifiable

assets such as property or investment portfolios;

- aclear, consistent and robust process for managing arrears; and

- operating a strong control and governance framework for our
Client Relationship Officers (“CRO") with oversightby a central
credit riskteam.

Our exposures to counterparties are mitigated ‘by:

- contin'uous‘monitoringofthecredit‘qualityofourcounterparties
within approved set limits;

- securities are settled on a delivery versus payment basis; and

- counterparty exposureand settlement failure monitoring controls
are also in place.

At 31 December 2022 the Company had loans and advances to
customers amounting to £3.0 ‘billion (2021: £2.8 billion). There were
no loans written off during the year to 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

The Company’s counterparty exposures are broadly unchanged, with
mostof our liquidity requirements and surplus funding placed with

the Bank of England or in high quality liquid assets. We continue to

monitor the UK and global economic outlooks.

Further commentary on the creditquality of our loan bookis
outlined in Note 27. Further details on debt securities and loans and
advances to customers are held are in Notes 12 and 13. Our
approach to credit risk management and monitoring, as well as
further details on the value of collateral held, is outlined in more
detail in note 27.

Employees

The quality and expertise of our em ployees is critical to the success
of the Company. The loss of senior management, key CROs or Private
Banking teams méy have an adverse impacton the Company’s
operations and ability to deliver its strategy. ’

The Company seeks to attract, retain and develop staff by:

- becomingan Employer of Choiceto attract and retain talented
professionals with the right skills and experlence o create value
within EFG and for our clients

- enabling our peopleto develop professionally and investingin

future skills as a key driver to remain competitive and continue

the trajectory of Sustainable Profitable Growth;

mobilising our people behind our purpose and fostering a diverse

and inclusive workplace where EFG Values are tived and our

people and business can thrive.

This strategy is operationalised through the Company's:

- remuneration and benefits structures which are competitive and
recognise and reward performance, mcludmg performance against
EFG UK's behaviours and values;

- creating an inclusive environment that embraces diversity;

- guiding managers and employees in understanding the
importance of physical and mental wellbeing in the workplace;

- engaging with our employees through effective communication
channels and listeningand acting on their feedback

- continuous succession plannmgforManagementCommvttee
Members and critical roles; and

- awareness around development opportunities within the
Company and provide supportfor individuals to learn through our
commitment to continuous learning.

We are committed to giving full consideration to applications for
employmentfrom disabled persons as well as providing continuing
employmentto existing employees who become disabled during
their employmentwhere practicable. Where existing employees
become disabled, whether temporarily or permanently, we adapt the
working environment and where possible offer flexible working,
training and graduated back-to-work plans in conjunction with
occupational health to ensure the retention of employees.

Our people have continued to detiver successful results for our
. customers and the Company. Our incentive model for CRO -

remuneration has suqcessfully enabled the C_ompahy to hire and
retain talent allowing continuity of our clientrelationships.

The Company continues its focus on the wellness'of its employees,
through continuing to offer a hybrid flexible working approach
coupled with specialised internal communication. The EFG Women's
Network, continues to develop as we striveto continue to make
significantsteps in our diversity and inclusion journey.

Capitat and liquidity
The Company’s ability to access capital and funding remains key to

supportour lending activities and the liquidity requirements.

Both Liquidity and Capital is assessed daily to ensure adequate
liquidity and capital is held and remains readily accessiblein
stressed conditions.

The Company's term and notice deposits increased by 45.5% to £3.2

billion (2021: £2.2 billion). Further commentary on funding and
liquidity is provided on pages 3 and 4 and note 29. Furthér financial
analysis of our liquidity is shown in note 29.

Economic environment

The 2022 global economic rebound, that followed the pandemic-
induced contraction 0f 2020, gave way to a broad-based.slowdown
with areas of recession forecastfor this 2023. The target was to
economically rebuild, through growth and employment, which
initially proved highly successful after the burden of lockdowns. Yet
as early inflationary warnings began to increase, the costbase
effects lessened and annualised growth returned to more
recognisable, but elevated levels. The reduction in unemployment
continued at lower levels but supply-chain problems persisted and
increased demand for energy has elevated prices, both domestically
and commercially.

This relatively benign view halted abruptly in February 2022 when
Russiainvaded Ukraine. This drew broad glabal condemnation, but
has also triggered a dramatic reatlignment of the'previous
geopolitical spheres of influence. This singleaction shaped the rest
of 2022 and potentially reshapes the future. Moreimmediately an
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energy crisis ensued, stoking tatent inflationary trends that were
exacerbated by poorly coordinated and tardy responses by the
major centrat banks.

Legal and regulatory

Failure to comply with existing legal, compliance, regulatory or tax
requirements or to react to changes to these requirements, may have
negative consequences for the Company.

Failing to treat customers fairly, to safeguard client assets or to
provide advice and products which arein clients’ bestinterests, could
be harmfulto clients and damage our reputation. It may also lead to
adverse legal or regulatory consequences, fines, litigation or
customer redress. This applies to current, past and future business.

The Company's business model involves the provision of services

high net-worth, domesti¢ and international clients. with a diverse
range of needs including complex wealth structures. This complexily
across a broad spectrum of clients increases the risk relating to
compliance with laws, regulations, rules, standards, generally
accepted practices, and codes of conduct applicable to all is
activities resulting in risk of {egal or regulatory sanctions, material
financial loss, or loss of reputation which the Company may suffer as
. a result of its faiture to comply. Similarly,changeé to regutation and
taxation can impact on our financial performance, capital and
liquidity and the markets in which we operate.

The Company seeks to manage these risks by:
- implementing appropriate policies, standards and procedures and
implementing risk-based monitoring programmes to test
adherence; '
monitoring the changes in the regulatory environment and
adapting policies, procedures and processes as required;
having regular training sessions detivered to all staff to raise their
awareness and understanding of the correspondingrisks; ‘
providing clear advice on legal, compliance and .regulatory
requirements.
- responding in an appropriate, risk-based and proportionate

)

0

manner to any changes to the legal and regulatory environment

and those driven by any strategic initiatives;
- maintaining constructive and positive relationships and dialogue
with regulatory bodies and tax authorities;
providing products and services to our clients which are designed
to meet their needs; .
reviewing and approving new products and services through a clear
governance and approval process; and
maintaining a prudent capital position with headroom above
minimum capital requirements.

'

The Company's approach to legal and regulatory risk remains
unchanged. We continued to invest in our people and infrastructure
and improving and standardising our processes.

The HMRC investigation, originally noted in our 2018 Annual Report,
remains ongoing. Further detail on the taxation charge for the year
is shown in note 9 of the financial statements.

Operational risk : . ]
The Company is exposed to various operational risks through its
day-to-day operations and the markets in which we operate.

Adverseimpacts to the business, customers, third parties are
considered within the context of our risk management framework.

The Company seeks to mitigate opérational risk through:
sustaining robustoperational risk management processes,
governance and management information;

identifying key systems, third party relationships, processes and
staff; : ’

maintaining an operational resilience framework designed to
ensure the end-to-end delivery of importantbusiness-services;
investing in cyber security including expertise, tools and staff ,
engagement; :

increasing focus on data protection controls;

- adopting fraud prevention aligned with our risk profile; and

" - testing recovery capabilities, including our recovery plan, and

planning communications approaches for possible scenarios.

Market and regulatory expectations continue to increase in relation
to operational risk management and resilience. in line with this
environment, we continue to devetlop and evolve our capacity to
reliably deliver key services.

Competition
The Company is a private bank and wealth manager and faces
competition from both UK and international banks. We are currently

_experiencing high levels of competition within the UKmortgage

market, as excess tiquidity has driven down margins. Elevated and
cbntinuing levels of competition may impactour ability to write
loans within our desired risk and return criteria, resultingin lower
net new assets and lower revenues.

The Company has a clear strategy and value proposition:to bea
leading Swiss Private Bank that is renowned for its distinctive client
approach to create sustainable and profitable growth. Our CRO
model sets us apart in the market and enables us to offer truly

- client-centric service and our risk appetite and pricing criteria are

well defined.

Market risk

Market volatility impacting equity and fixed income exposures,
and/or changes in interest and exchange rates, have the potential
to affect the Company's performance, through their impacton both
client portfolios and the Company’s balance sheet

Our policy is to minimise interest rate risk by matching fixed and
variable interest rate assets and liabilities and using swaps where
appropriate. Exceptfor the Company's ATt bond, the capital and
reserves of the Company do not have interest rate liabilities and as
such are not hedged. Foreign exchange exposures are generally
hedged using foreign exchange forwards or currency swaps with
exposures monitored daily againstapproved limits.

t
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The Company's approach and the underlying risks are unchanged.
Further detail on the Company's exposure to marketriskis outlined
innote 28.

The sensitivity analysis on interest rate exposures shown in note
28.1.2 demonstrates the limited level of exposureto interest rate
and foreign exchange movements.

Cyber risk

" Cyber risk refers to the risk offinancial loss, disruption or
reputational damage arising from data leakage, including hacking
and/or other cyber-attacks onthe Company's information
technology systems.

The Company is exposed to Cyber Risk through use of EFGand third-
party managed information technology, including our core banking
platforms, email and electronic banking, which are coreto.our
business proposition.

The Company aims to continuously assess our controls over cyber
security,'as wetl as our internal processes to ensure adequate
mitigation of the rapidly evolvingrisks in the area of IT security,
client confidentiality and data protection. The Company aims to
“ensure our staff are well trained in identifying and preventing legal
and operational risks from cyber-attacks, viaa culture of reporting -
incidents, ongoing information security training and annuat user
accountreviews amongstothers.

The external environment remains challenging, with increased risk
associated with current geo-political events. The Company is
respondingto this by closely monitoring cyber threatintelligence
sources, such as the UK National Cyber Security Centre to obtain
updates about the ongoingthreats and attacks, scanningour
networks for related indicators of Compromise as they are
published and continuously reviewing our controls adjusting them
where necessary. '

Horizon risks . :

The Company also regularly reviews upcoming risks on a forward-
looking basis through formal horizon scanning and consideration of
prospective risks, through its risk and management committees,
which include industry, global economic and wider risks.

Climate change .
The Company has developed a framework for the management of
financial risks arising from climate change under the direction of the
Chief Risk Officer, overseen by the Risk Committee, The main areas
of focus of the framework are: . .
overview of physical and transition risk and examples of how they
may manifest across financial risk (market, credit, investment;
liquidity/funding) and non-financial risk (reputational,
“operational); : ) A
- risk appetite and risk tolerancein terms of protecting the
Company's assets; protecting clients’ investments; and
deployment of capital;
- riskidentification and materiality assessment;
- risk monitoring: metrics, limits and thresholds to be monitored
across credit(loans and related collateral), treasury (investment

portfolio) and investment solutions (clients’ investments), and the
reporting process for these; and )

- third party risk management to include environmental, social and
governance ('ESG’) considerations in vetting processes for third
parties. - ' .

Physical risk arises from shiftin specific weather or shifts in climate.’

Transition risk arises from the process of adjustment towards a low

carbon economy required by governments and regulatory bodies.

The Company'’s lending portfolio is primarily focussed on central
London, where physical risk, dueto flooding, is'greater than
transition risk. However potential transition risks may arise from
tightening energy efficient standards for domestic and commercial
buildings impacting the risks in buy-to-let portfolios. The Company’s
Lombard portfolio is collateralised mainly by portfolios investing in
well diversified equity and fixed income funds as well as cash
deposits. The Company's investment portfolio is mainly exposed to
sovereign issuers and financial institutions with short maturities and
is not therefore expected to have material climate change exposure.
The Company has no direct exposure to the carindustry, energy
sector or other companies in the wider economy vulnerable to a
failure to adapt towards a low carbon-economy.

ESG . .
Environmental and social challenges are a source of both
opportunities and risks, and the financial industry has a crucial role
in addressingthese topics. In 2021, EFGI launched an ESG risk
management process to identify and manage potential adverse
impacts the EFGI group could have on the environmentand society,
as well as any associated reputational consequences or other risk
affecting the EFGI group and its clients. The assessmentand
management of these risks have been further developed in 2022. For
more information of the ESG strategy see the EFG sustainability
report 2022 (http:/ /www efginternational.com/sustainability).

Section 172 statement
The directors have acted in a way that they consider, in good faith,

to be mostlikely to promotethe success ofthe Company for the

benefit of its members as a whole, and in doing so, had regard,

amongst other matters, to: ’

- the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

- the interests of the Company's employees;

- the need to foster the Company's business relationships with
suppliers, customers and others; and the impactof the Company’s
operations on the community and'the environment;

- the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high
standards of business conduct; and

- the need to act fairly between members ofthe Company.

The directors also considered the views and interests of a wider set
of stakeholders, including our customers, our parentcompany, our
workforceand our regulators. Considering this broad range of
interests is an important part of the way the board makes decisions,
although in balancing those different perspectives it may notalways
be possibleto deliver the desired outcomefor all. The board will
sometimes engage directly with certain stakeholders on issues, but
the size and distribution of our stakeholders and of the Company
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means that stakeholder engagement often takes place at an
operational level.

. The key activities and principal decisions undertaken by the board
in 2022 are detailed below. When making each decision the board
carefully considers the impacton the success of the Company, its -
long-term (financial and non-financial)impactand has due regard
to the other matters set outin section 172(1) (a) to (f) of the
Companies Act 2006.

The impactof our principél decisions made during the year\ on the
stakeholders identified above are as fotlows;

Clients . A
As a relationship focused business, the return-to-work guidelines
impacted the nature of how our CROs approached client
relationship management: In a post return-to-office world, CROs
have continued to operate a mixed face-to-face and digital
approach with clients.

Shareholders

The Company-did not pay ‘a‘dividend in 2022 (2021: £89 million) to its
parent company EFGL. ’

Workforce . -

The Company’s long-term success is predicated on the commitment
of our workforce to our purposeand its demonstration of our values
on a daily basis.

On return to work, following the post Covid pandemic, a flexible
working approach has continued to be adopted. The Company’s

hybrid approach offers staff the opportunity to work from home for

up to 80 days a year with the caveat that 60-80% of the team were

in the office on any one day, allowing for a high-level of client care
to be maintained, a consistent demand for office space and to
deliver an effective collaborative working environment This adopted
new way of workingis conduciveto the working environment

" achieved through the moveto our new London office premises and
. the enhanced technological capabilities to allow more effective
flexibleworking.

For future growth and to 'improve clientservices the directors took

. the decision to investin new client facing and supportsystems

including Temenos T24 and Objectway for Harris Allday.

The Board considers and discusses information from across the
organisation to help it understand the impactofits operations, and
the interests and views of our key stakeholders. It also reviews
strategy, financial and operational performance, and information
covering areas such’as key risks, tegal and regulatory compliance at
each meetjng. Consideration of the above factors and other relevant
matters is embédded into all board decision-making, strategy
development and risk assessmentthroughoutthe year. As a result
of these activities, the board has an overview of engagement with
stakeholders, and other relevant factors, which enables the directors
to comply with their legal duty under section 172 of the Companies
ACt 2006. : _ )

- The Strategic Report was approved by the board and signed by order

of the' board:
A Evans
CA - CoFond

Company Secretary
21 Aprit 2023
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Directors' Report

The directors present their reporf-together with the audited
Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Results and dividends
" The results for the year are set out on page 18 of the Financial
Statements. The directors did notrecommend a dividend for the
_year (2021: £89 million).

Directors

The directors of the Company who were in office during the year
and up to the date of signingthe financial statements are given on
page 3 of this Annual Report All directors listed on that page were
directors throughoutthe year, apart from Giorgio Pradelliwho
resigned as director on 18 july 2022, Oliver Meredith and Gabrielle
Branson who were appointed on 15 February 2022 and 1 August2022
respectively.

Details on the directors’ remuneration can be found in the note 7 of
the financial statements. :

Directors’ indemnities and insurance

The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
for its directors and officers. Qualifying third party indemnity
provisions for the purposes.of section 234 ofthe Companies Act
2006 were in force during the year and remain in force at the date
of this report. :

Strategic report
The Company’s Strategic Report can be found on pages 4 to 9 of
this Annual Report

" Business activities

The Company’s business activities, together with a description of
future developments (including the factors likely to affect future
development and performance) and its summarised financial
position, are set out in the Strategic Report.

. Charitable donations .

During the year the Company made donations totalling £5,000 (2021
£6,409) to various charities in support.of their social responsibility
objectives. ’

Diversity and equality

The Company is an equal opportunities employer and is committed
to ensuringthat all our employees can be proud to work for us,
regardless of their gender, age, race, ethnicity, disability, sexual -
orientation or background.

Employees

Employees are updated on any changes that may affect them via
regular internal communications-and briefings. Eligible employees
are required to participate in a deferral schemewhereby an
element of variable compensation is deferred and settled at a
future date either in cash or equity-settled via instruments granted
over shares in EFGH AG. In addition, the Company operates a HMRC
approved Share Incentive Plan which is available to all employees.

Financial instruments

Details of the Company’s financial instruments can befound in
note 27.7.

Financial risk management

The Company has procedures in placeto ideritify,. monitor and
evaluate the significantrisks it faces. The Company reviews and
adjusts its risk appetite annually as part of its strategy-setting

_process. This aligns risk-taking with the achievement of strategic

objectives. Adherence to the fisk appetite is monitored by the
Company’s Risk Committee. The Company'’s principal risks and
uncertainties are described on pages 4 to 9 and the risks

associated with the Company’s financial instruments are analysed
innote 27 of the Annual Report statements. The Company's hedging
polccy can be found in note 11 ofthe Annual Report ‘

Post balance sheet events
In November 2022 the Company decided to change the treasury

business model for the investment securities porifolio from to hold
. to collectand sell to maturity and to collectcoupons. The

implementation of this strategic business change will lead to an
accounting reclassification of the portfolio from 1 January 2023,
giving rise to a non-adjusting post balance sheet event as the
investment securities move from “Hold to Collectand Sell” to “Hold
to Collect”.

In March 2023, the global economic constraints and need for raised
interest rate levels, has'increased pressure on certain financial
institutions. These financial institutions were impacted by investor,
and depositor confidence and.subject to reorganisation
arrangements and equity downgrades. The Company had no direct
exposureto these financial institutions and assesses no impact on

“the Company’s going concern assessment.

Branches-
The Company has a branchin Jersey.

Capitalstructure .
The issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 1 January
2022 and 31 December 2022 comprised of 31,595,906 ordinary shares
of £1 each. ’

Polltlcaldonatlons
No polmcal donations were made duringthe year (2021: Nil).

Greenhouse gas (* GHG") emissions

In line with the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reportmg
requirements the below table discloses the Company’s UK energy
use and GHG emissions.

Yearended  Yearended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

Total energy usage (MWh) 2017 534
Total GHG emissions (tCO.e) 428 124
GHG emissions per employee (tCO,e) 12412 03594

The table aboveincludes scope 2 emissions associated with the
Company's operations, (there are no material scope 1 emissions).
These preddminantly relate to purchased electricity and gas
relating to the operation ofthe Company’s offices. The total
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purchased energy has been recorded-based on data from the
Company's suppliers and the relevant government conversion

- factors used to calculate the tCO2e. The increase in tCO2e year on
year is a result of the increased return to work after the
coronavirus pandemic and the operation of two buildings during
. the Company’s move from Leconfield Houseto Park House during
the year. As part of the procurement process around the premises
moveto Park house during 2022, an Environmental Standards and
Certification rating of Gold has been achieved.

* The Company has various activities and initiatives in.place to
reduce GHG emissions, including sourcing renewable electricity
where possible and utilising sensor lighting to minimise
unnecessary use.

Independent Auditor

Pursuantto section 485 to 488 of the Companies Act 2006, the
board has approved the tontinuing appointmentof BDO LLP as the
Company's statutory auditor for the financial period commencing 1
January 2022.

Disclosure of information to the auditors

Each of the persons who are directors at the date of approval of
this Annual Report confirms that

(a) so far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company's Auditors are unaware; and

(b) they have taken all steps that they ought to have taken as .
directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Company’s Auditors are aware
of that information.

This confirmation is given and should beinterpreted in accordance -

with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act2006.

Going Concern

The Company has a strong business model and has traded
profitably duringthe year. It is well positioned in its core business,
well capitalised, soundly funded and has adequate access to
liquidity. The Company prepares, and the directors review and
approve a three-year financial forecast that takes into accountthe
company's currentposition, strategic plans and key risks as set out
in risks in the disclosures notes of these statements. These
financial forecasts are stressed using agreed Severe but plausible

stress scenarios as the basis for the projections included within the

company's Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)
and the Internal Liquidity Adequacy AssessmentProcess (ILAAP). |
Based on the results of the regulatory projections of the ICAAP and
ILAAP, the director’s assessmentis that company's capital and
liquidity resources are sufficientto withstand these stresses.

After making additional enquiries and reviewing relevant reports
and data (including but notlimited to financial forecasts, capital
and liquidity projections and related risk reports), the directors -
have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate
resources to continuein operation for the foreseeable future.

" Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in the
Annual Report

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annuat Report and
the financial statements in accordancewuth appllcable laws and
regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared
the Financial Statements in accordancewith United Kingdom
adopted internationat accounting standards.

in preparing the financial statements, the directors arerequired to:
select suitable accou nting policies and then apply them
‘consistently;
state whether applicable UK adopted |nternat|0nal accountmg
standards have. been followed, subjectto any material departures
disclosed and explained in the Financial Statements;
make judgements and accountmg estimates that are reasonable
and prudent; and
prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continuein business.
The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficientto show and explain the Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that
the Financial Statements comply with the Companies Act2006.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the Company’'s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of Financial
Statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

The directors’ Reportwas approved by the board and signed by
order of the board:

A Evans

CC -CGavound

Company Secretary
21 April 2023
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Independent auditor's reportto the members of EFG
Private Bank lelted

Opinion on the financiat statements

In our opinion, the financial statements:
»  giveatrue and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of its profit for the year then ended;
. have been properly prepared in accordancewith UKadopted international accounting standards;
. have been prepared in accordancewith the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of EFG Private Bank Limited (the ‘company')for the year ended 31 December 2022 which comprise
the Income Statement, Statement of Comprehensive Income, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement, and notes
to the Financial Statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework thathas been applied
in thenr preparation is applicable law ahd UK adopted international accounting standards. .

-

Basis for opinion ,

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable taw. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to prowdea basis for our opinion. Qur audit opinion s
consistent with the additional reportto the audit committee.

Independence

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the Board of Directors on 24 May 2021 to audit the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021and subsequentfinancial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including
retenders and reappointments is 2 years, covering theyears ended 31 December 2021to 31 December 2022.

..

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are retevant to our audit of the financial statements
in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
-in accordance with these requurements

~ The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not prowded to the company and we remain independent of the
companyin conducungour audit

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accountingin the preparation
of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation ofthe Directors’ assessment ofthe company's ablhty to continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting included:

’

+  Assessing the appropriateness of the assumptions and judgements made in the forecasts used to support the going concermn
assessment by considering the consistency of the forecasts with our understanding of the busmess as well as considering the
historic accuracy of the forecasts by comparing them with actual results.

'+ Obtaining the Directors’ assessment of the going concern assumption applied in the financial statements and evaluating the
appropriateness of Directors’ method of assessing going concernin lightof the currentmacroeconomic environment, inflationary,
pressures, the impact of the challenger market, as well as ourunderstanding of the Company's strategy, forecasts, Internal Capital
Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) submissions and Prudential

Regulation Authority (PRA) minimum capital requirements. The ICAAP and ILAAP have been reviewed with assistance from our |

regulatory experts.

. Reviewing correspondence with the Regulators, to identify any concerns they might have which could mpactgomgconcern

. Reviewing the adequacy of the going concern disclosures in the financial statements in reference to the requirements of the
financial reporting framiework, our understanding of the company and consistency with the Directors going concern assessment

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a gomg concern for a period of at least twelve months
from when the financial statements are authonsed forissue.

Our responmbnlmes and the respon5|b:lmes of the Directors with respect to gomg concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report .
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Independentauditor’s report to the members of EFG
Private Bank Limited

Overview

. Key audit matters

2022

Expected Credit Losses (“ECL")
atlowance

ury

2. Taxation (Transfer Pricing) ) v

3. -Sale of EFG. Private Bank (Channel
Islands) Limited (“EFGIG") and transfer
-of assets :

4. Revenue (commissionincome)

*This key audit matter was a resultofa once-
off transaction in the prior and is
therefaore not relevant in the current
year. )

**We have reassessed the risk on revenue
this year and no longer consider this
to be a key audit matter

201

1 Materiality

£2.0m (2021: £1.5m) based on 0.75% of net assets (2021: 0.75% of net assets
reduced for the £66.6m of Additional Tier 1 qualifying subordinated instrument
which was corrected to be treated as equity late in the audit cycle).

An overview of the scope of our audit .

Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Company and its environment, including the Company's system of internal
control, and assessingthe risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. We also addressed the risk of management override ~
of internal controls, including assessing whether there was evidence of bias by the Directors that may have represented arisk of material

misstatement.
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Independentaudltor sreportto the members of EFG
Private Bank Limited

Key audit matters

\

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of mostsignificancein our audit of the financial statements
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we
identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing
the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and
informingour opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. '

. Key Audit Matter How we addressed the key audit
matter in out audit
Expected Credit Loss A principal activity of the Bank is the | Our procedures included the following:
(“ECL") allowance provision of creditservices principally to ) .
high-net-worth customers. e Wetested the operating
Refer to: Note 1(a) - Critical ) effectiveness of relevant controls,
accounting estimates and Determining  the ECL involves including:
judgements in applying management judgement, which includes o The use ofan approved
accounting policies and assumptions on key aspects of the ECL valuer panel for property
Notes 13 Loans and model, such as estimating the collateral.
advances to customers & 27 | probability of default and the selection o  Frequency of révaluation of
Credit risk of forward-looking scenarios. - ' property collateral.
Determining the ECL s therefore subject o  Monitoringthe valuation of
to a high degree of estimation marketable security
uncertainty. _ collateral.
’ o Loan authorisation and
A significant proportion of the . disbursement.
Company's ECL is Stage 3 ECL. " o Recordingofloan data into
the loan system.
The ECL altowance is a significant audit o  Automated controls over the
risk, specifically . considering the systems used to record
. existence and valuation of collateral as | customer lending and
k expected credit loss is driven by lower repayments.
loan to value exposures. e We tested the compliance of the

ECL methodologies and the
retevant assumptions, as per the
requirements of IFRS 9: Financial
Instruments.

e With the assistance of our internal
valuation experts, we assessed
elements of the modelling. This
included the probability of default
and the Company’s forward-

: looking assumptions by

3 s considering the approach and

‘ available external support

' ) .| e Toassess the completeness of the

watchlist control, we selected a

. sampleof loans included in the

ER . watchlist to assess whether they
meet managements criteria.

e Selected a sample of Stage 3 loans
and assessed the adequacy of the.
ECL allowance considering the .
exposureand collateral.

e Forasample of collateral types, we
agreed the valuation to
independent sources, eg: to market

- prices or property valuation report,
where applicable. We also checked
that the entity has legal charge
over the collateral.

e We tested the accuracy and

) completeness of the significant

' : : . increasein credit risk criteria,

: which drives the allocation

i : : between stages.

! ' »  We have assessed the

completeness of post model

adjustments by considering
whether the macro-economic

! factors, such as increased inflation,
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Private Bank Limited

have been taken into
consideration.

Our findings

Based on the work performed, we have
concluded that the

methodologies, modelled assumptions
and management's

judgements in determining the ECL
allowance are appropriate and
complaintwith the requiréments of IFRS
9 Financial Instruments.

Taxation (Transfer Pricing)

" Refer to: Note 1(b) - Critical
accounting estimates and

* judgements in applying

' accounting policies and

' Notes 9 Income taxes & 21
Provisions

The Company remains subjectto a
transfer pricing (“TP") enquiry from
HMRC inrelation to the appropriateness
of the pricingofvarious intercompany

‘services.

This fee should be calculated at an
arm’s length rate.

Considering thejudgement required in
order to determine an appropriate
arm’s length fee , the materiality of this
fee and the period of service, we have
determined that tax provisions relating
to transfer pricing will bea key audit
matter. ’

Our procedures included the following:

e With the assistance of our
internal tax experts-we held
discussions with management
to understand current year
issues that have been
identified, including updates
on the HMRC investigation,
and review of the Company’s
on-going correspondencewith
HMRC.

e Testing management’s
assessmentof the potential
impactand resultant
accounting treatment, with
the assistance of our Transfer
Pricing and Tax Dispute
Resolution experts, in relation
to areas of uncertainty
involving transfer pricing
judgements and estimates.

e _Reassessingthe
reasonableness of Uncertain
Tax Provision (*UTP") based on
any changes in facts during
2022. ’

e  Evaluating the disclosures
made in the financial
statements against the
requirements of the relevant
accounting standards.

Key observations

Based on our audit work performed, we
consider the judgments made by
management in calculating the
provision to be reasonable.

Our application of materiality

we apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of misstatements. We consider
materiality 0 be the magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, could influencé the economic decisions of reasonable users
that are taken on the basis of the financial statements.

In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements exceed materiality, we use a lower materiality level,
performance materiality, to determine the extent of testing needed. Importantly, misstatements below these levels will not necessarily be
evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of the nature of identified misstatements, and the particular circumstances of their
occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial statements as a whole.
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Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole and performance materiality as
follows:

2022 2021
Materiality £2.0m £1.5m
; Basis for determining 075% of net assets. - | 0:75% of net assets reduced for the £66.6m of
materiality ot : Additional Tier 1 qualifying subordinated instrument
which was corrected to be treated as equity late in
the audit cycle.

Rationale for the We have determined regulatory capital to be the mostsuitable basis considering the following:

benchmarkapplied - e The Company is part of a larger group where profitis a key measure at the overall parent level,
however, the parentcompany has afocus on both the profitand regulatory capital for the Company.

e  The statutory profitbefore tax of the Company fluctuates significantly.

*  Regulators are principally focused on the regutatory capital of the Company.

*  Netassets was chosen as the materiality benchmark as it closely corresponds to regulatory capital

1n 2021 we used the lower percentage largely because we were gaining our understanding of EFG.

Performance CE1Sm £0.975m
materiality

Basis for determining 75% of materiality- 65% of materiality
performance

materiality

Rationale for the
benchmark applied

The above materiality levels based on our risk
assessment together with our assessment of the
Company's overall control environment and history

The materiality level allowed us to identify and
address any risks presentin the financial statements
during the first-year audit

of misstatements.

Reporting threshold

We agreed with the’Audit Committee that we would report to them all individual audit differences in excess of £41,700 (2021: £30,000). We
also agreed to reportdifferences below this threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Other information

The directors areresponsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report and
Financial Statements, other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon. ' .

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistentwith
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the auditor otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify
such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material
misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to reportthat fact )

We have nothingto reportin this regard.
Other Companies Act 2006 reporting

Based on the responsibilities described below and our work performed during the course of the audit, we are required by the Companies
Act 2006 and 1SAs (UK) to reporton certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategicreport |, oy opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

and Directors +  theinformation given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial

report . year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistentwith the financial
statements; and

» the strategic reportand the directors’ report have been prepared in accordancewith
applicable legal requirements.

In the tight of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained
in the course ofthe audit, we have notidentified material misstatements in the strategic report
or the directors' report

Matters on which
we are required
to report by
exception

We have nothingto report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies
Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
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+  adequate accounting records have notbeen kept, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches notvisited by us; or

+ thefinancial statements are notin agreement with the accounting records and returns;
or

< certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

« . we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibility Statement the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for beingsatisfied that they givea true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend
- to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative butto do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial-statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error,and to issue'an auditor's report that includes our opinion,Reasonable assuranceis a high tevel ofassurance,

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
- expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements..

Extent to which the auditwas capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. we design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, mcludmg fraudis detauled below: .

We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the company and the industry in.which it operates, and
considered the risk of acts by the company which were contrary to applicable laws and regulations, including fraud. These included but were
not limited to compliance with the Companies Act 2006 and UK adopted International Accounting Standards. We also considered the
company's compliance with licence conditions and supervisory requirements of the Prudential Regutation Authority (PRA) and the Financiat
ConductAuthority (FCA), and relevant tax legislation.

We focused on laws and regulations with which non-compliance could glve riseto a material misstatement in Lhe company financial
statements. Qur procedures included:
. reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess comphance with relevant laws
and regulations discussed above,
" = enquiring of management regardrng their controls and processes in place to ensure compliance wrth the requirements of the
respective authorities,
. made -enquiries in respect of any instances of known or suspected fraud and any non- compllance with laws and regulatlons of
management and the audit committee, and
. reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, as well as, reviewing correspondence with the FCA and PRA, in
order to identify any non-compliance with laws and regulations and any known or suspected fraud.

‘We assessed the susceptibility of the financial statements to material misstatement, including fraud and considered the fraud risk areas to
be within accounting estimates such as the expected creditlosses, those applied in raising provisions, as well as, revenue recognition and
. management override of controls:

. in addressing the risk of fraud through managementoverride of controls, testrngthe appropriateness of asampleof journal entries
and other adjustments, by obtaining an understanding of the journals from management and, where relevant, agreeing these back
to supporting documentation, '

*  Testing samples of revenue lines by obtaining underlying data from the system and agreeing it to supportingdocumentation to
check the revenue has been appropriately recognised as well as testing operating effectiveness of key controls. This addressed
the risk of fraud related to revenue recognition, and

*  Assessingwhether the judgements made in accounting estimates, including those identified above in our Key Audit Matters related
to ECL allowances and taxation (transfer pricing)are indicative of a potential bias.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members who were all
deemed to have appropriate competence and capabilities and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations throughoutthe audit

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, recognisingthat therisk of

' not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
deliberate concealment by, for.example, forgery, misrepresentations or through ‘collusion. There are inherent limitations in the audit
procedures performed and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in
the financial statements, the less likely we are to become aware of it.
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A further description of our responsibilities “is available - on the Financial Reporting Council's website at
www.frc.orguk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms partof our auditor’s report,

Use of our report

This report is made solely to_the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our

audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to staté 1o them in an
auditor’s reportand for no other purpose. To the fullestextent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our auditwork, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

DocuSigned by: -

Ariel Grosleny
63148688DC3848B1..
Ariel Grosberg (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
London, UK
24 Aprit 2023 -

BDO LLPis a limited liabitity partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number 0C€305127).
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EFG Private Bank Limited

Income Statement

Year ended Year ended
. 31December2022 31 December 2021
Note ' £000 . £000
Interest income ) . ' 133,296 59,764
Interest expense K ' (53,553) - (13,548)
.Netinterest income i ' 3 ‘ 79,743 46,216
Bankingfee and commission income 60,878 63,082
Banking fee and commission expense ' K (3,337) .- (2,781) .
Net fee and commission income o . . ) 4 57,541 ' 60,301
Dividend income ¢ : , ' - 30,000
Net trading incomeon financial instruments ' : ' ‘ _ 1,380 ' 747
Net trading income on foreign exchange e ) 543 4,862
Gains less losses on disposal of financial assets . - ) : 147 60
Netotherincome =, : 2,070 35,669
’ L \ .
Operatingand Investingincome o ' . C 139,354 142,186
Operating expenses ¢ : - ~ 5 .. (104,693) . (112,020) )
Profiton disposal of subsidiary : : - 68,900
{Loss allowance) / reversal of loss allowance on financial assets at amortised cost . ) 210 ]
and debt instruments measured at fair value through Other Comprehensiveincome ) . (37)
Profit before tax ' ) : T . : . 34,871 : 99,029
Income tax s A . ’ 9 . . (4609) : 2133
Net profit aftertax - : . . i 30,262 101,162

The notes on pages 18-to 61 form an integral part of these Financial Statements . .
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Statementof Comprehensive Income

Year ended Year ended
31December2022 31 December2021
£000 ’ . E£000
Net profit.for the year \ 30,262 101,162
Other comprehensive income / (expense)
Items that may -bereclassified subsequenrly to the Income Statement

Net (losses)on investments in debt instruments measured at fair value Lhrough Other (36347)
Comprehensive income (“FVOCI") S (11,318)
Net gains / {losses)on designated hedges over debt instruments measured at FVOCI 13,774 9,158
Transfers to the Income Statement on realised gains / (losses) on FVOCi debt instruments - 12
Deferred tax on the aboveutems : 6,400 -
Items that may notbe reclassiﬁe'd subsequently to the Income Statement
Net(losses) /. gains on investments in equity instruments designated at FVOC! - (51)
Income tax relating to componenrs of Other cOmprehensrvelncome - -
Totalother comprehensrve income / (expénse)for the year (16,173) (2,199)
Total comprehensive income for the year 14,089 982963

The notes on pages 18 to 61form an integral part of these Financial Statements
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EFG Private Bank Limited
Balance Sheet

) Restated
" 31 December 2022 31 December 2027
£'000 £000
Note Co )
Assets }
Cash and balances with central banks’ 10 ©1213286 1,244,267
Due from other banks : S , 10 : 95177 . 124974 -
Derivative financialinstruments, . 1,26 '58,670 10,099
Financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensiveincome 12, 26 : 1,487,641 . 852,764
Loans and advances to customers' - 13, 26 . 2967101 < 2,764,761
Investments in subsidiaries ' A T 1,320 1,320
Property, plant and equipment : 15 : 25,182 24,002
Intangible assets ‘ : - %6 313 T 198
Deferred incometax assets v . : 7 - . 11333 5,553
Other assets : o 18 27013 - 24,994
Totalassets : : 5,889,606 . . 5,054,532
Liabitities -
Due to other banks : g - 19 758,752 539,184
Due to customers o : .. 20 4,762,542 4152829
Derivative financial instruments ) ) 1,26 .. 13,603 22,109
Currentincome tax liabilities ' _ , 5,103 1,742
Provisions 2 . 3382 ) 3,427
Other liabilities! C A 22 72,042 , 67,977
. Total liabilities : ‘ ' , 5615426 4,787,268
Equity .
Share capital . 24 31,596 . 31,596
Share premium : . : - N 96,639 96,639
Capital redemption reserve ' ' . : : 10,000 10,000
Other equity and reserves : 55,451 . 73,325
Retained earnings . . A B 80,496 55,704
Total equity ' : A 274,182 ' 267,264
Total equity and liabilities L ‘' 5889606 | 5054532

~

TRestated to reclassify net loan facility fees of EA.,147.988 from other liabilities to toans and advances to customers in accordance with EIR accounting.

' The Financial Statements on pa'ges 18to 61were approved by the Board of Directors on 21 April 2023 and signed on its
behalf by: - ‘ o : ' o

".(’/D\‘ﬁbgm'

"0 Meredith
Chief Financial Officer

The notes on pages 18 to 61 form an integral part of these Financial Statements Annual Report 2022 | 20
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EFG Private Bank Limited

‘Statement of Changes in Fquity |

Attributable to owners of the parent

, Capital =~ Other
Share Share Redemption equityand Retained " Total
capital premium reserves reserves earnings .+ equity
GBP'000  GBP'000 GBP'000 "GBP'000 -GBP'000 ‘GBP'000
At1 january 2021 31,596 96,639 -+ 10000 - 75519 50,623 264,377
Net profit fqrthe'year - - - C- 101,162 101,162

Net gains on investments in debt instruments

measured at FVOCI (including the effect of . :
hedging) - - - - (2,223) - 2)
Income tax relating to components of other

comprehensive expense - . . - - - .- - -
Total Comprehensive Income for the year - - - (2,223) . 101,162 98,939

3\

AT1 interest treated as appropriation of retained

earnings - . . ) - - - - ~ (5401) (5.401)
Employee equity incentive plans amortisation \ ’ ] . )

and net of exercise.costs . - - - (1,651) - (1,651)
Payment of ordinary dividends : - - - - (89,000) (89.000)
Transfers to retained earnings - - - B - 1,680 (1,680) -
At 31 December 2021 - 31,596 . 96,639 10,000 73,325 » 55,704 267,264
Net profit for the year - : ' - - 30,262 30262

Net gains on investments in debt instruments
measured at FYOCI (including the effect of

- hedging) S - - @2573) - (22573)
Income tax relating to components of other “\ ‘ '
comprehensiveincome - - - - 6,400 6,400
Total Comprehensive Income for the year - - - - (16,173) 30,262 14,089

ATH interest treated as appropriation of retained

earnings . ' . - - - - - (5470) (5,470)°

Employee équity incentive pians amortisation ' ’ )

and net of exercise costs - - - - (1,701) - (1,701)
~ Payment of ordinary dividends - ) - 4 - - - -

At 31 December 2022 ) 31,596 96,639 10,000 55,451 80,496 274,182

The notes on pages 18 to 61form an integral part of these Financial Statements . Annual Report 2022 |21



EFG Private Bank Limited
Cash Flow Statement

~
. Year ended Restated Yearended
Note 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 -
£000 - £000
Cash flows from operations .
Profit before tax o ' ' 34,87 99,029
Adjustments for ' : ) -
Depreciation of fixed assets . o . 4,499 - o 4752
Amortisation of intangibles ' ' ' 535 434
Amortisation of IFRS 2 reserve through profitand loss 4,214 4,030
Loss allowance provision C ' ~ (210) . 37
Loss/ {gain) on sale of subsidiary as investment activity ' ' - -~ (68,900)
Gains less losses on disposal of financial assets ' (a7) . : (60)
Dividend paid by subsidiary included in investmentincome . - (30,000)
Paymrents to parent for participation in share scheme ) v (6,452) (5,681)
Lease interest per IFRS16 . . 448 : 156
Changes in operating assets and liabilities . . '
Derivative financialinstruments : . (57.077) (15,336)
(Increase) in Loans and advances to customers ‘ K .- (202340) - ¥(586,461)
Decrease / (increase) in other assets . - : ) (2,019) 28,685
Increase / (decrease) in dueto other banks ’ : . 219,568 11,595
increase in due to customers . : 609,713 - 1,137,564
Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities and provisions 5,925 ) 8,162
Effect of foreign exchange ) ‘ (61,770) 3(15,506)
Corporation tax paid ' ‘ ' @6m) . 1,183)
Net cash from operating activities 547141 SN
Cash flows from investing activities )
(Purchase) of investment securities . (1,177,277) (453,370)
Proceeds from sale of investment securities ' _ 587,790 340,452
(Purchase) of capital in subsidiaries . o : - (1,275)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary . ) - s 78,900
(Purchase) of property plant & equipment .+ (5793) (176)
(Purchase)of intangible assets ) - ‘ (1,850) A973)
Proceeds from-dividends .- 30,000
Net cash from investingactivities | _ : (597,130) (6,442)
Cash flows from financing activities .
© Payment of AT Interest (5,394) (5,389)
Payment of dividends Co - (89,000)
Lease interest repaid . . (448) 2(156)
Lease principal repaid . : ' (1,905) - (3,028)
Net cash from financing activities ] (7,747) (97,573)
Net cash inflows ' (57.736) 467,302
. Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalent . (3,042) ¥3,309
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period : ) . 1,369,241 ' 898,630
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period . 10 . 1,308,463 1,369,241

'Restated to reclassify net loan facility fees of £4,147,988 from other liabilities to loans and advances to custdmers in accordance with EIR accounting.

2Restated for presentation.” ] ‘
3Change in presentation for the effect of foreign exchange to split out cash and cash equivalents to be in accordance with the standard.

’

1

The notes on pages 18 to 61 form an integral part of these Finahcial Statements o 4 Annual Report 2022 | 22
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~ Notes to the Financial Statements

AGeneral INFOrmation ......ivoeeeeevroeeerceenrirneseeeeeees I SO et eee e bt e 24
B Basis of preparation ..................... oo oo ee et et s Ao e e e 24
€ CONSORARAtION. oo et e et e 24
D Accounting Developments .........cccc.cocuwwneeene. et SRRSO RO 24
1. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting POLICIeS . ......cccovvvemrvivienririieicee e 24
2 PN CIPAl CCOUNTINEG POLICIES wvvvovovevveeeeeveesoeeeeeeveeeeeeeses e e s oo s s s ssss s s s e 25
3. . Netinterest iNCOME ..cowrwerreeeencencrneireniseninned! et et et e aenb e et SRR S 27
4. Netfee and commission iNCOME ..ccccoerrnnnnnn. et SO 28
.o OPErALING @XPENSES ... cveiiriietcitiitin et s e SO 29
6. AT COSTS vttt ettt ettt et et e e e b e et b b sttt st s 29
7. Directors’ remuneration .........cccceeeeuennnn. ettt ettt e ee et eenanenn JRS——— e, et 29
8. Auditors’ remuneration S O [OOSR 30
Income tax............... renenes ettt ses e es e et et e e e eSSt AR AR AR e RS RS R RS AR 30
10. . Cash and cash equivalenps.....,..........: .................................................. et et 31
11.  Derivative financial inStIUMENES ... ..c.ccevvernrnsrrrrernen SO U OV U U OO U OO PSSO OE O OP PP POOPOO 31
12, Financial assets at fair value through ‘Other ComprehensiQe INCOME oottt eter e oot 33
- 13. Loans and advances to customers .............. S e ..... ....................................... ..... e 33
14 Investment in subsidiary undertakings............. et oo ................................................................ 34
15, Property, plant and eqUIPMENt. ... . oot e e 35
16. INLANGIDIE @SSOUS ...oiiiiiiiitiet ittt e e eb bbb e b ca e bbb s SR bR b s e R bR ehen 36
7. Deferred tax assets and liabilities............ RSOSSN OO OO O PO TOT OO UOP OO SR 36
18, OtherassetS........rmiieeec e e e R e e E ekt eases s e eaea e a s .37
19.  Dueto otherbanks ... ........................................................................................................................... 38
200 DUE L0 CUSTOMEIS ..vvvrveee s ssesees s st s e s - ....................... 38
2. Provisions.......... et FR S —— ettt ea et et et r s e s S st et et 38
22, Other liabilities «.covoevevverineeeiececrcinieeenee et esrt e ar s aens e -39
23, Lease labilities ..o oo e e e e e bbbttt 39
24, Share capital....cccorrrnnne.. e s o] e e 40
25.  Other equity and reSerVes .........cccoucourvcriururi e e IS e e 40 -
26. - Financial assets and liabilities . ............................. _— R e ere e 40
27 Credit MisK . ecnrinereeseees RS PPN s 43
28, MATKEL MiSK coericiiiriecetire e e SN DU TORUROU OOV UTOPTON e 53
29, LIQUILILY FISK cveiiiiiiiei ettt e e s s feeerererteseree st e soeennens SSSTUPTRUROON 57
30.  Key management COMPeNSation ... .cocurruenrrernesnrena: et SO RRR TR 58
31, Contingent liabilities ..o T A I 58
32 EMPIOYER CQUILY INCOMEIVE PLAN S rveuvieeniernieieetiee et ceseesseessress e cesness bt sa s s sest e s bs ettt e SR 59
33. . Related party transactions .........ccceceevennen e e ettt et TR 059
34 Capital management........cccoooeemerernnnss. - e R R R S .60
35, OFff-DAlanice SHEEL ITEMS. oottt ettt e er st ettt et es e sees s e .61
36, POSEDALANCE SHEEL BVENTS ..cvuiviieeiiieeeceeets sttt st bbb ss st sb e nb e oo esesee e 61

Annual Report 2022 | 23



EFG Private Bank Limited

A General information

EFG Private Bank Limited is incorporated and domiciled in
England and Wales, with registered company number 2321802 as
a private company limited by shares. The Company’s immediate .
parentis EFG International AG (“EFGI"), a limited liability
company incorporated and domiciled in Switzerland.

B Basis of preparation
The Financial Statements are for the year ended 31 December
2022 These Financial Statements have been prepared in

accordancewith UK adopted international accounting standards.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historic
costconvention modified by revaluation of financial assets and
financial liabilities held at fair value. The directors have
confirmed itis appropriate to use the going concern assumption
as a basis for presénting these Financial Statements.

The preparation of Financial Statements in accordancewith UK
adopted international accounting standards requires the use of
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at
the date of the Financial Statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.The
process also requires management to exerciseits judgementin
the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies.

Although estimates are based on management's best knowledge
.of currentevents and actions, actual results ultimately may
differ from those estimates. Further information about critical
estimates and judgements are presented in note 1.

The Company's presentation currencyis British Pounds (GBP)
which is thefunctional currency of the Company.Numbers are
stated in thousands of Pounds Sterling ('000).

C Consolidation

The Company has taken a-dvantage of the exemption afforded by
Section 4010f the Companies Act 2006 in not preparing
consolidated Financial Statements. The Company is a wholly
owned subsidiary of EFGI, a limited liability company
incorporated and domiciled in Switzerland. EFGI prepares
consolidated Financial Statements to 31 December each year in
accordancewith IFRS and the IFRIC interpretations. The
Company’s main subsidiaries are documented in note 14.

D Accounting Developments

The following accounting standard amendments/interpretations
are mandatory for the financial year beginning1)anuary 2022
but are either not relevant or do not have a material impacton
the Company's consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to 1AS16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ -
Proceeds before intended use
Amendments to IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets - Onerous contracts
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 cycle:
o IFRS1‘First-timeAdoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards’,
o IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’
IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ - Amendmentto itlustrative examples
o IAS 41 °Agriculture’ .

o}

Amendments to IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ - COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions :

Amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ - Reference to
the Conceptual Framework

The Company continues to monitor new accounting
standard/amendments/interpretations that have been issued
and become mandatory in subsequentaccounting periods.
The Group is assessing the potential impact of the following:
IFRS 17 'Insurance Contracts’ ’
Amendments to IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ - Applying IFRS9
‘Financial Instruments’ with IFRS 4 ‘Insurance

Contracts’

Amendments to 1AS1 'Presentation of Financial Statements’ -
Classification of liabilities and disclosure of accounting
policies

Amendments to IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors’ - definition of-accounting .
Estimates

Amendments to IAS12 ‘Incometaxes’ - deferred tax on lease
and decommissioning obligations

1 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in
applying accounting policies
Inthe process of applying the Company’s accounting policies,
the Company’s management makes various judgements,
estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities recognised in the Financial
Statements in future periods. Estimates and judgements are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed-to be reasonable under the circumstances. The
Company made the following critical estimates in the year:

(a) Expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss (“ECL") allowance
for financial assets measured at amortised costand fair. value
through Other Comprehensivetncome (“FVOCI")is an area that

" requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions

about future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g, the
likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses).
Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation
techniques used in measuring the ECL are further detailed in
note 26.3.1, which also sets out the key sensitivities ofthe ECL to
changes in these elements.

Several judgements are also required in applying the accounting
requirements for measuring the ECL, such as determining the
criteria for significantincreasein creditrisk (“SICR"), choosing
appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of
ECL and establishing groups of similar financial assets for the
purposes of measuring the ECL.

~ {b) Income taxes and deferred tax

Significant estimates are required to determine currentand
deferred tax assets and liabilities. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. This will
include judgement of the amount of tax payable on open tax
computations where the liabilities remain to be agreed with
HMRC. Due to the uncertainty associated with such tax itemsitis
possiblethat at a future date, on conclusion of any open tax
matters, the outcome may vary significantly.
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A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry-forward of
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax
losses can be utilised. To the extent that itis not probable that
taxable profitwill be available against which unused tax losses
can be utilised, the deferred tax asset is not recognised.

_(c) Disposalof EFGIG and transfer of assets to the Company
In November 2021, upon closure of EFGIG a book of business
assets transfer (‘subject portfolio’) was initiated to transferred
assets from the EFGIG entity to the Company, to the London
Private Bank and Jersey branch as well as to EFG'AG. The
Company assessed the fair value ofthe subject portfolio and
assets were transferred at fair value, which was equivalent to
the cost base. The subject portfolio being transferred included
investment securities, loans and advances, deposits and assets
under custody (‘AUC'). A range of estimates was used in arriving
at this fair value: -
- Investment securities held at fair vatue, were recorded
appropriately in line with 1FRS 13, we further detail the
valuation of investment securities in note 12 and 26.
Deposits and cash are short-dated instruments, and their

" bookvalue is approximated to the market value.
The market rates of toans transferring are sl'ightly different
from interest rates charged on the Company’s lending. Fair
value differences were materially offset across each side of
the mortgage and lombard portfolios, and no adjustment to
bookvalue was necessary.
AUC are short-dated clientagreements which can be
terminated with minimal notice, therefore the fair value
estimate on these is immaterial.
The market interest rate 6f transferred deposits isin line with
the peer group ‘other Private Banks’ so no adjustment was
necessary. -

2. Principal accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
the Financial Statements are disclosed below, butwhere
possible, they have been shown as part of the note to which,
they specifically relate. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presentéd, uniess otherwise stated.

(@) Foreign currencies

Monetary assets and-liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies have been translated into the functional currency at
the market rates of exchange ruling at the Balance Sheet date
and exchange differences are accounted for in the Income
Statement.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the Income
Statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash
flow hedges. o

Translation differénces on non-monetary items (treasury shares)
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss and are
included in the fair value reserve in equity.

(a) Revenue (where the policy not disclosed in a specific
note)

() Dividendincome

Dividend income represents gross dividends from investments
(principatly in subsidiary companies) and is recognised when
the Company's right to receive payment is established.

" (i) Nettradingincome and foreign exchange gains and

losses
Net trading income comprises results from foreign exchange
transactions and revaluation of assets and liabilities
denominated in other currencies, including the mark to market
of interest rate swaps and currency forwards and swaps; plus,
any gain or loss from financial instruments measured at fair
value.. .

(iii) Gains less losses on disposal of financial assets
Gains less losses on disposat of financial assets are recorded

when the risks and rewards of financial assets measured under

IFRS 9 are transferred to another party in exchange for
consideration. Thegain or loss represénts the difference
between the consideration received and the carrying value of
the financial asset and is recognised at the pointin time where
the risks and rewards from the financial assets are transferred.
For assets held at FVOCI this includes the recycling of gains or
losses previously recognised in other comprehensiveincometo
the income statement. '

(b) Financial assets and liabilities

Allfinancial assets are recorded on the day the transaction is
undertaken. Purchases and sales of financial assets at fair vatue
or amortised cost are recognised on the date on which the
Company commits to purchase or sell the asset Loans and
advances to customers are recognised when cash is advanced to
the borrowers.

Measurement methods:

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The Company recognises amounts due from or to other banks,
loans and advances to customers, amounts dueto customers,
and subordinated lending at amortised cost Amortised costis
“the value at which the financial asset or financial liability is
measured at initidl recognition minus the principal repayments,

- plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective

interest method of any difference between that initial value and
the maturity value and, for financial assets, adjusted for any (9ss
allowance. '

Amortised cost and effective interest rate (continued)

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset or financiat liability to the
gross carrying value of a financial asset or to the amortised cost
of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider
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expected credit [0ss (“ECL")and includes transaction costs,
premiums or discounts and fees paid or received that are
integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees.
For credit-impaired financial assets the Company calculates the
credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is calculated based
on the amortised costof the financial asset instead ofits gross
carrying valueand incorporates the impactof ECLin estimated
future cash flows.

“When the Company revises the estimates of future cash flows,
the carrying value ofthe respective financial asset or financial
liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimated discountusing
the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised
in profit or loss.

Initial recognition and measurement

At initial recognition, the Company measures a.financial asset or
financial liability at its fair value. In case of a financial asset or
financial liability subsequently not measured at Fair Value
Through Profitor Loss (“FVTPL"), transaction costs that are -

incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition orissue '

.

. of the financiat asset or financial liability, such as fees and
commissionsare included at fair value at initial recognition.
Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities
carried at FVTPL are expensed as incurred.

Immediately after initial recognition, an ECL is recognised for
financial assets measured at amortised costand investments in
debt instruments measured-at fair value through other
comprehensiveincome (“FVOCI”), which results in an accounting
loss being recognised in profit or loss when an asset is newly
originated.

The business model reflects how the Company manages the
assets in order to generate cash flows. That is, whether the
Company's objective is solely to collect the contractual cash
flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash
flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. if neither of
these is applicable (eg, financial assets are held for trading
purposes), then the financial assets are classified in the ‘other’
business modet and measured at FVTPL. Factors considered by
the Company in determining the business model for a group of
assets include past experienceon how the cash flows for the
assets were collected, how the asset's perform ance is evaluated
and reported to key management personnel, how risks are
assessed and managed and how management are compensated.

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash-flows or to collect contractual cash flows and
sell, the Company assesses whether the financial instrument's
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI™). In making this assessment, the Company considers
whether the contractual cash flows are consistentwith a basic
lending arrangement, i.e, interest includes only consideration
for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks
and a profitmargin that is consistent with a basic lending
arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure
to risk or volatility that are inconsistentwith a basic lending
arrangement, based on qualitative or quantitative criteria, the
related financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL.

Further detail on the accounting policies for financial assets )
held at FVOC) and amortised cost are contamed in notes 12 and
13. -
Fair value Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets that do not meet the criteriafor amortised cost
or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. Other movements in the fair
value (for example from interest rate or credit risk changes)
which are not part of a hedging relationship, are presented in
the Income Statement within ‘fair value gains less losses on’
financial instruments measured at fair value’ in the periodin
which they arise.

Impairment
On a forward-looking basis, the Company assesses the ECL
associated with debt instrumentassets carried at amortised
costand FVOCI and with the exposurearising from loan
commitments and f'hancialguarantee contracts. The Company
recognises an ECL for such losses at each reporting date. The
measurement of ECL reflects:
an unbiased and probability-weighted value that is
determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; '
the time.value of money;
reasonable and supportable information that is avan!able
without undue costor effort at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.
Further detail is provided in note 27 creditrisk.

Classification and subsequent measurementoffinancial
liabilities

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are
classified as subsequently measured at amgrtised cost, except
for financial liabilities at FVTPL. This classification is applied to

- derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading (e.g., short

positions in the trading booking). Gains or losses on financiat
liabilities designated at FVTPL are presented partially in Other
Comprehensive income (the value of change in the fair value of
the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the
Company’s creditrisk of that liability, which is determined as the
value that is not attributable to changes in market conditions
that give rise to market risk) and partially profitor loss (the
remaining value of change in the fair value of the tiability). This
does not apply to derivatives or held for trading tiabilities. This
is unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge, an
accounting mismatch in which case the gains and losses
attributable to changes in the creditrisk of the liability are also
presented in the profitor loss;

\
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Derecognition offinancial assets and liabilities

A financial asset, or a portion thereof, is derecognised when the

contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have

expired, or when they have been transferred and either;

- the Company transfers sy bstantlally all the risks and rewards
of ownership, or
the Company neither transfers nor retams substantlally all the
risks and rewards ofownershlp and the Company has not
retained gontrol.

In case of modification of loans when the Company renegotiates -

or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of a loan, it
assesses whether or notthe new terms are substantially
different from the original terms, considering arange of, factors
that include reduction in cash flows when the borrower is
expected to be able to pay, new substantial terms are
introduced, extension of the loan term, changes in interest rate
. and currency or insertion of collaterals or creditenhancement
.facilities. If terms are substantially different after the
modification, the Company derecognises the original financial
asset and recognises a new asset at fair value, recalculating a
new effective interest rate for the asset If the terms of the
modified asset are not substantially different, the asset is not

expires). In case of modification of terms offinancial liabilities,
the Company extinguishes the currentliability and recognises a
new liability only if the modification is considered a substantial
modification of the terms (i.e. if the discounted present value of
the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net
of any fees received and discounting using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability). Any costs or fees incurred are recognised as
part of the gain or loss on the extinguishmentifthe’
modification is accounted for as an extinguishment Otherwise,
costs and fees incurred adjustthe carryingamountof the
liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the
modified liability. '

(c) Intangible assets

Computer software and licences are stated at costless
accumulated amortisation and impairment{osses. Amortisation
is calculated using the straight-tine method over a 5-year basis.
The acquisition cost of software capitalised is based on the cost’
to acquireand bringinto use the specific software. Impairment
is assessed when there is indicators for impairment.
Management have identified no indications of impairmentover

derecognised, but the Company creates new cash flows, software assets during 2022.

resultingin a modification gain or loss.

Afinancial liability is derecognised when extinguished (i.e, the
obligation specified in the contractis discharged, cancelled or

3. Netinterest income

Accounting Policy

'mterest income and expenses are recognised in the Income Statement for all interest-bearing instruments on an accrual basis, Usii usmgthe
effectlve interest method, other than financial instruments measured at FVTPL. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
>estumated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrumentor, when appropriate, a shorter period, to
Lhe net carrying amountofthe financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the eﬁ‘ectlv/e interest rate, the Company estimates cash
,,ﬂows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrumentbut does notconsider future creditlosses. The calculation includes all
"amounts paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and any
other premiums or discounts. Negative interest on assets is recorded as an interest expense and negative interest on liabilities is recorded
1as interest income,

For financial assets at amortised costor debt instruments at FVOCI in stage 3, the original effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
costof the asset rather than to the gross carryingamount .

2022 2021

£000 £'000

Banks and customers - . ' 114,230 . 52,758
Financial assets at FYTPL . ' 458 ‘ 74

. Financial assets at FVOCI . . 18,608 6,932
Totalinterestincome \ 133,296 L. 59764
Banks and customers (48,583) (7.420)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL Y * .(185) (150)

. Financial liabilities at FVOCI {4,805) . (5,978)
Total interest expense (53.553) (13,548)
Net interestincome R : 79,743 46,216

) ' Annual Report 2022 | 27



EFG Private Bank Limited

4. Netfee and commission income

{Accounting Policy

;The Company earns fee and commission income from arange of financial services it provides 10 its customers. Fee and commission income
:’is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for providing the
iservices. The performance obl:gatnons as well as the timing of their satisfaction, are identified, and determined, at the inception ofthe
contract

pwhen the Company provides aserviceto its customers, consideration is generally due immediately upon satisfaction of a service provided
at a pointintime or at the end of the contract period for a service préovided over time. The Company’s fee and commission income from
serwces where performanceoblngatnons are:

Wealth Management

These fees are earned for the provision of wealth management services, which include portfolio diversification and rebalancmg These
'management fees are recognised over time in line with the agreed fee rates as services are provided to customers on an ongoing basis.
Where these fees and expenses are recognised in advance of billing they are included as accrued income.

Intercompany Service Fees

Serwces provided where the Company's performanceobllgatnons aresatisfied at a pointin time are recognised once control of the services
‘ns transferred to the customer. This is typlcally oncompletion of the underlying transaction and include fees and commissions arising from
’negouatmg or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as the arrangement/partlupatnon or negotiation of the
acqu1smon of shares or other securities.

;Commission Income

iThe Company buys and sells securities on behalf of its customers and receives a fixed commission for each transaction. The Company's
performance obligation is to execute the trade on behalf of the customer and revenue is recognised once each trade has been executed
i.e, on the trade date). Paymentofthe commission is typlcally dueonthetrade date.

2022 2021

_ - £'000 £000

Wealth managem ent‘fees ] . ’ 4 43,967 41,661
Commissionincome : 8,848 9,974
Intercompany servicefees - 8,063 1,447
Total fee and commission income . 60,878 63,082
Wealth management expenses ' ' (1,846) (1,484)
Brokerage expenses . : (764) (1,105)
Intercompany service fees expenses S (727) (192)

3,337) (2.781)
Net fee and commission income o ‘ 57,541 60,301
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~ 5. Operating expenses

_ 202 o202
Note £000 £000
Staff costs . : ' o 6 : (70,475) (76,940)
Administrative expenses . ' . (29,184) (31,894)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15 (4,499) (4,752)
Amortisation of intangible assets . : 16 T - (539) (434)
Operatingexpenses PR -+ (104,693) (112,020)
A \
6. Staff costs
, 2022 2001
Note £000 £000
Wages, salaries and staff bonuses : ‘ ‘ . (56,022) (59,408)
" Social security costs ' ' (7.622) (®071)
Pension COsis | ] 261 (2.788)
Share options granted to directors and employees - 32 (4.214) (4,673)
Staff costs (70,475) (74,940)
_ 2022 2021
Average of full-ime equivalent employees by location
EFG Private Bank - London 2 225
EFG Private Bank - Harris Allday 07 108
EFG Private Bank - Jersey Branch 3 . . 12
: 362 345

The Company operates defined contribution pension plans for employees. The Company pays contributions to pfivately administered
pension plans and has no further paymentobligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expenses when they are due. .

7. Directors’ remuneration

_ Details of the remuneration of employees who served as directors duringthe year, . o 2022 2021
or subsequent to year end, is as follows; ' £000 _ £'000
Short-term employment benefits . T 2137 : 1,823
Share-based payments ) 411 304
Defined contribution pension payments : : 133 108
Number of directors awarded share options ’ o . 2. 2
Number of directors exercising share options - ’ : 3 1

Highest paid director

Short-term employment benefits i \ ’ 557 752
Share-based payments ' ' 375 263
Defined contribution pension contributions : ) 60 - . 60
Total - ’ L ’ 992" 1,075

.

The highest paid director exercised 24,647 share options during 2022 (2021: 48,114).
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8. Auditors’ remuneration

2022 ©202
. ) £'000 N £000
Fees payable for the statutory audit of the Company pursuantto legislation ) 1,069 i 682
Fees payable for the interim profitverification ) - ' 45
Fees payable for.services in relation to regulatory findings and regulatory audits . 100 : 77
Total , L - 1169 80€
The above table is representative of the remunération to the current external auditors, BDO LLP.
9. Income tax
2022 ‘ 2021
£'000 : £000
Currentyear tax-credit/(charge) . o ' o ) (3,746). ’ 1,143
Foreign tax charge . | . ‘ . _ (856) (184)
Adjustments for currenttax of prior periods ~ S 419 . (7)
o (4,183) 952 .
Deferred tax - Currentyear - ' (426) 1,250
Deferred tax - Adjustments for prior periods ‘ - (69)

Total income tax credit _ - ' T (4609) 2,133
The tax on the Company’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax rate, as follows:

Profit before tax ' : 34,871 99,029
Tax at the applicablerate 0f19% : T ' : (6,626) (18,816)

Tax effect of:

Non-taxable income ' . ' - . -5,700
Non-allowable expenses ' _ , 109 o
Adjustments for currenttax of prior periods . . (151) (76)
Deferred' tax and rate differences . : _ . 6 : 1250
Stock options . ' . 152 218
AT1 Interest (appropriation of earnings) ' . 1,039 1,026
Jersey branch profit ' N - 935 . (19)
‘Gain on disposal of subsidiary : - 13,091
Other items : : (73) (263)

Total income tax credit / (charge) T . (4,609) 2133
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10. Cash and cash equivatents

’/r\ccounting Policy

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, short-term deposits and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank drafts. For the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents

'compriSEthefollowing balances with less than 90 days maturity.

~

31December2022 31 December 2021

£000 £000
Cashin hand ' - 153
Balances with central banks . 1,213,286 1,244,114
Total cash and balances with central banks . ] 1,213,286 1,244,267
Due from other banks - at sight : 90,337 109,260
Due from other banks - at term 4,840 15,714
Totaldue from other banks i 95,177 124,974
Totalcash and cash equivalents 1,308,463 1,369,241
Pledged due from other banks 4,840 15,714

11.  Derivative financial instruments

Q\ccounting Policy

Denvatwe financialinstruments are initially recognised in the Balance Sheet at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is
entered and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, including recentmarket
transactsons discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is’
posmve and as liabitities when fair value is negative. -

The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition is the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the consideration given
or received) unless the fair value of that instrumentis derived from its comparison with other observable current market transactions in
the same instrument (i.e, without modification or repackagmg)or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from
observable markets.

Hedge accountingis used for derivatives designated as such, provided certain criteria are met The Company documents, at the inception of,
the transaction, the relationship between hedged instrumentand hedginginstruments, as well as its risk management objective and

strategy for undertakingvarious hedge transactions. The Company also documents its assessment, both at hedge inceptionand on an
ongomg basis, as well as upon a significantchange in the circumstances affectingthe hedge effectiveness requirements, of whether a
hedgmg relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements.

v
»

Interestincome and expense on derivatives designated as hedging instruments in effective hedge relationships is included in net interest
income. The Company will discontinue hedge accountingin the following scenarios:

L when the Company determines that a hedging relationship no longer meets the risk management objectwe
- when the hedged instrumentor the hedging instrumentexpires, is sotd or terminated;

~ when the economic relationship between the hedge item and the hedging instrument ceases to exist; -

L when the credit risk effect starts to dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship;

{

= when the forecasted hedged transaction is no longer probable.

Fanr value hedges; Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the lncome
Statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. Ifthe hedge
ino longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustmentto the carryingamountofa hedged instrument, for which the effective
interest method is used, is amortised to the Income Statement over the period to maturity.

Denvatlves that do not qualify for hedge accounting; Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair
value of any derivative instrumentthat do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income Statement.
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11.  Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Derivatives
The Company’s credit risk represents the potentlal costto replace the forward or swap contracts if counterpartles fail to perform their

obligation. This risk is monitored on an ongoing basis with reference to the currentfair value, a proportion of the notional amount of the
contracts and the liquidity of the market. To control the level of credit risk taken, the Company assesses counterparties usingthe same
techniques as for its lending activities. The notionat amounts of financial instruments prbvidea basis for comparison, butdo notindicate
the amount of future cash flows, or the current fair value ofthe underlying instruments. Accordingly, they do not indicate the Company’s
exposureto creditor price risks. The derivative instruments become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) because of fluctuations
in market interest rates, credit spreads or foreign exchange rates, relative to their terms. The fair values of derivative financial assets and
liabilities can fluctuate significantly from time to time. The fair values of derivative instruments held are set outin the following table:

5 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
‘ Contract/ ) . Contract/ '
notional  Fairvalues Fairvalues notional Fairvalues Fairvalues
amount Assets Liabilities amount Assets Lliabilities
. E'000 £000 E'000 £000 £'000 £000
Derivatives held for trading ' ' ’
Foreign exchange derivatives 2,335,662 37533 '(8,617) 2,393,243 5,340 (16,452)
. Interest rate swaps 1_10,375 7404 (4,900) 101,410 1520 (872)
Total derivative assets/liabilities held for trading - 2,446,037’ 44937 (13517) 2,494,653 6860  (17.324)

Derivatives held for hedging and designated as fair
value hedges

Interest rate s’waps‘ ' 150,575 13,733~ (86) 298,411 3,239 (4,785)
Total derivative assets/liabilities held for hedging 150,575 13,733 86) - 298,411 - 3,239 (4,785)
Total derivative assets/liabilities ' 2,596,612 58,670 (13,603) 2793064 + 10,099 (22,709)

1.1 Hedge effectiveness
The Company applies hedge accounting to interest rate risk on fixed rate bonds (fair vatue hedge). The Company holds a portfolio of fixed

rate bonds and therefore is exposed to changes in fair value due to movements in market interest rates. The Company manages the risk
exposure by entering interest rate swaps that pay fixed rates matching-the coupons of the,bonds and receive'floating interest rates. Only
the interest rate element is hedged and therefore other risks, such as credit risk, are managed but not'hedged by the Company. The interest
rate risk componentis determined as the change in fair value of the long-term fixed rate bond arising solely from changes of the interest
rate.environment Such changes are usually the largest component of the overall changes in fair_value.'This strategy is designated as a fair
value hedge and its effectiveness is assessed by comparing changes in the fair value of the bonds atributable to changes in the
benchmark rate of interest with changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps.The Company enters the swap at the sametime as
purchasing the bond, while structuring the swap so that the principal terms of the swap exactly match those ofthe bond. As a result, the
hedgingratio is near 100% and there is limited ineffectiveness during 2022. The Company had the following fair value hedges in place at
year end: . .

31December2022 31 December2021

. £000 £000 .
Derivatives held for hedging - Interest rate swaps
Notional amount of hedging instrument 150,575 29841
Fair value of assets 13,733 3,239
Fair value liabilities (86) (4,785)
Change in fair value used for calculating hedge ineffectiveness 13774 : 9158
Hedged items - Fixed rate bonds held at FvOClI
Carryingamount of hedged item 137,598 - 301,075
Accumulated amount of fair value adjustments on the hedged item (13,497) . . 888 .
Change in fair value of hedged item for ineffectiveness.assessment (14,385) . (8788)

130 million of the derivatives designated as fair value hedging instruments have maturity longer gh'an‘12 months (2021: £138 million). The
average fixed rate paid on derivatives designated as fair value hedges is 1.61% (2021:1.73%).
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12 Financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income

Eccounting Policy

‘Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for sellingthe assets, where the asset’s cash flows represent
§PEI arta measureq at FVOCI.Movements in the carryingamountare taken through Other Comprehensive Income, exceptfor loss
allowances, interest revenue and foreigh exchange gains and losses on the instruments amortised cost, which are recognised-in profit or -
loss When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in Other Comprehensiveincomeis
reclassuf’ed from equity to profit or loss and recognised in 'net gains/losses on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities’. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method.

The following table presents the carrying amount of financial assets measured at FVOCI and respective allowances for ECL:

31 December 2022 " 31 December 2021
Gross Carrying Net Carrying Gross Carrying Net Carrying
amount Loss allowance " amount amount Loss allowance amount.
£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Government . 1,005,524 . 46 1,005,478 384,270 14 384,256
Banks 481,986 ’ 53 " 481933 © 468521 13 468508
Total 1,487,510 99 1,487,411 852,791 27 852,764

-13.  Loans and advances to customers

Accounting Policy

f'Loans and advances to customers are held at amortised cost That is, the initial fair value (which is normally the amount advanced or
iborrowed)is adjusted for repayments, fees and expenses to represent the effective interest rate of the asset or liabitity. Balances deferred
Pn-balance sheet as éffective interest rate adjustments are amortised to interest income over the life of the financial instrumentto which
‘they relate.

iTo be measured at amortised cost; financial assets mustbe held in a business model to collect the contractual cash flows and contain
‘contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest

In determining whether the business model is a ‘hold to collect model, the objective of the business model must be to hold the financial
'asset to collect contractual cash flows rather than holding the financial asset for trading or short-term profit taking purposes. While the
.'objecuve of the business model mustbe to hold the financial asset to collectcontractual cash-flows this does notmean the Company is »
;required to hold the financial assets until maturity. When determining if the business model objectivg is to collect contractual cash flows
i(the Company will consider past sales and expectations about future sales. There has historically been a small portfolio of loans securitised
;to Chestnut |l Mortgage Financing It plc. The size of the loans securitised has been minimal and has no impacton the Company’s business
‘model of holding financial assets to coltect contractual cash flows. From August2022 these portfolio loan maturities were no longer bemg

i
replaced prior to vehlcle  being wound up

Restated

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

£'000 E£000

Mortgages ’ - 2,101,252 11,809,606
Other loans ' ' A 87,620 960,987
Gross loans and advances | o 2,972,872 2,770,593
‘Less: Loss allowance ‘ . . ' (1,604) (1,684)
Less: Deferred loan fee! : K (4,367) - (4,148)
Loans and advances to customers 2,967,101 2,764,761

'Restated to include net loan fac:lltyfees of £4,147,988 in accordance with EIR accounting were incorrectly stated in prior years. The impact on 2020
would have been £4,603,820.

’
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14.  Investment in subsidiary undertakings

The following s a listing of the Company'’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2022:

Line of
Name . business
Private AssetManagement Limited . " Dormant
Harris Atlday Limited . Dormant
PBTC Nominees Limited Dormant
HALB Nominees Limited : Dormant
The Private Bank and Trust Company Limited . Dormant
EFG Cyprus Limited o Investment
) Management

EFG Private Bank Limited, Jersey Branch* Banking

*Branch of EFG Private Bank Limited

Country of
incorporation

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Cyprus

Jersey

Non-31 December31 December

ownership controlling 2022 2021
% interest % E'000 " £000

100% 0% : -
100% 0% - -
100% 0% - -
100% 0% - -
100% 0% - -
100% 0% 1320 1,320
100% 0% - -
1320 1320

The accounting reference date for all companies is 31 December. During 2021the Company’s shares in EFG Private Bank (Channel'islands)
Limited was sold to EFG AG. As part of this transfer, the Private Bank, Trust Company (Guernsey) Limited and EFGIG Nominees Limited were
transferred to EFG AG, as 100% owned subsidiaries of EFG Private Bank (Channel Istands) Limited.
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15. Proberty, plant and equipment

Accounting PoliCy

Property plant and equipmentis stated at costless accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairmentlosses and is periodically
revuewed for impairment, with any impairment charge being recognised |mmed|ately in the Income Statement. Depreciation is calculated
usmgthe straight-line method to write down the costof property, plant and-equipment, to their residual values over their estimated useful
life..The useful life of each identified class of asset is as follows; buildings and leasehold improvements: the remaining life of the lease
F(maximum 15years), computer hardware: 3-4 years, furniture and equipment: 4-10 years, antiques and artwork: 50 years.

Gams and losses on disposals are determmed by comparing proceeds with carrying amount Theseare included in other operating
expenses in the Income Statement.

During 2021the Company entered a new lease at 116 Park St, London W1K 6AF. Premises leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset at the
‘date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Company. Right-of-use assets are measured at costcomprising the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; '

any lease payments made at or before the commencementdate, less any lease incentives received;

‘any initial direct costs.

e | | |

Where it has been identified that fully depreciated, fully written down and aged assets are no longer in use, the Company elects to dispose
of these assets. The accounting for this is disclosed in the lines ‘disposal within the year - cost’ and ‘disposal within the year - accumulated
deprec:auon for each relevant asset class. There is a nil net book valueimpact of this accounting. !

Other fixed assets comprises antiques and artworks and furniture and equipment To reflect the mostsuutable information to the user of *
the accounts, the asset classes are consolidated into ‘Other fixed assets’. The 2021 comparative information has also been adjusted on this
basis.

Leasehold Computer Other fixed
Right of use assets ' improvements hardware assets Total
£000 £000 . £000 £'000 £000
At 1 January 2021 :
Cost 14,285 5,640 6,223 . 3,546 29,694
Accumulated depreciation (7,106) (4,359, (5,890) (3,107) (20,462)
Net book value at 1 January 2021 ‘ 7179 1,281 333 439 9232
Additions 19,346 37 126 14 19,523
Depreciation charge for the year ~(3,811) (5720 (283) (&7 (4,753)
Disposals during the year - cost base - (70; ) - (20s2) (6,233)
Disposals during the year - accumulated .
depreciation - 70 4111 2,052 _ 6,233
Net book value at 31 December 2021 22714 74€ 176 366 24,002
At 31 December 2021 . .
Cost : 33,631 5,607 2,238 1508 © 42984
Accumulated depreciation - (10,917) (4,867, (2,062) (1,142) (18.982)
Net book value at 31 December 2021 22,714 746 176 366 24,002
~ Additions - 3,365 764 1,664 5793
Depreciation charge for the year g (3,556) T (uTs) "(294) (175) ' (4,499)
Write-offs (24) - (73) (114)
Net book value at 31 December 2022 . 19,134 3,615 651 1,782 25,182
At 31 December 2022 i
Cost 33,607 8950 . 3007 [ 309 48663
Accumulated depreciation (14,473) (5,335, (2,356) (1317) (23,481)
. Net book value at 31 December 2022 19,134 " 3615 651 1.782 - 25182
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16. Intangible assets

/Accounting Policy

Computer software and licences are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Itis periodically reviewed for
,‘impairment, with any impairmentcharge being recognised in the income Statement. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over a 5-year basis. The acquisition costof software capitalised is based on the costto acquire and bringinto usethe specific
1software

31 December 2021

31 December 2022 Computer

Computer software and

software and licences - licences

GBP '000 " GBP ‘000

Opening net book value

Cost 3,610 2,637

Accumulated amortisation and impairment ' (1,812) . (1,378)
Net book value 1,798 1,259 |

Acquisition of computer software and ticences 1,850 973

- Amortisation charge for the year (535) (434)

Closing net book value ’ : 3113 1,798

Cost : * o 5460 3,610

" Accumulated amortisation and impairment ’ (2.347) (1,812)

' 3,143 1,798

Net book value

17. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

‘Accounting Policy

Deferred incometax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
lliabitities and their carrying vatues for financial reporting purposes, using the enacted UK Corporation tax rate of 19%, (2021:19%). Deferred
,:tax is measured using substantively enacted rates which are expected to apply when the temporary differenc‘e reverses. The principat
,’temporary differences arise from goodwill impairment, property, plant and equipment depreciation, stock options, and revaluation of
‘certain financial assets and liabilities, including derivative instruments. The Chancellor announced on 3 March 2021 that the rate of
’corporatron tax paid on the Company profits will increase from 19% to 25% with effect from 1 April 2023. The newly announced 25% tax rate
\was included in the Finance Bill 2021 which was published on 11 March 2021 and substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. As the rate is
substantively enacted 2021, this increase affect the amounts of currentor deferred income taxes recognised by £961,486 (2021. £1,330,000).

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be recovered in the future. Deferred tax relating to
'changes in fair values of financial assets classified as FVOCI is charged or credited directly to Other Comprehensive Incomeand is

‘subsequently recognised in the Income Statement together with the deferred gain or loss. A potential deferred asset of £1,687,077 (2021

1

~E1 687,077) arisingon unrelieved capital losses carried forward of £6,748307 has not been recognised in the financial statements as it
uncertam whether the Company will generate sufficient capital gains in future periods to utilise the asset

incometax payabte on profits, based on the enacted or substantively enacted tax law where relevant, is recognised as an expensein the .
iperiod in which profits arise. The tax effects of income tax losses available for carry forward are recognised as an asset when it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which these losses can be utilised. The Company recognises intereston late paid taxes
iPlus any penalties, if applicable, as part of operating expenses or provisions in the Income Statement, depending on circumstances.
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. 17.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

) ) X o 31December 2022 31 December 2021 . R
T L L T e S S ST A L T T — T e T D OO .:T..q._,ﬁ_;_ T E000 5

The movementon the net deferred incometax account is as follows:
At January o . ‘ : - 5553 4112
Credit/Charge) to Income Statement . : : (426) 1,441
Dilapidation provision . : . (194) -
Credit/(Charge) to other comprehensiveincome . 6,400 -
At 31 December - . : : 11,333 . 5,553
Analysis of deferred taxation balance:
Fixed assets . ' ] : ’ (439) : 67
Intangible assets ) : 2,176 2,490
Stock options s o 3093 2,451
Tax losses . 561 .-
Deferred tax on FVOCIitems ‘ 5731 -
Dilapidation provision : : . ) 245 194

~ Other R ' (34) 351
Deferred income tax assets B . 11,333 5,553

\ N

18. Other assets

‘Accounting Policy
Assets, other than those specifically accounted for under a separate policy, are stated at their cost less impairmentcost Financial assets
Bre recognised at amortised costin accordance with IFRS 9, which includes the requirement to calculate expected credit losses on initial

irecognition. The presentation of this note has changed from the prior year to disaggregate intercom pany receivables from accrued income,
R 2 :

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

’ ‘ : : £000 - £000 -
Prepaid expenses and accrued income : Toemn7e2 . 11,101
Setttement batances ) : : : ) ) 1,10 1,873
Other receivables ' , . S 5479 357
Intercompany receivables i . - 8,662 8,649

Other assets o . 27,013 24,994

-
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19. Due to other banks

31 December 2022

31 December 2021

£000 £000
Due to other banks at sight 84,909 Vo3
Due to other banks at term = ) ) . 673,843 503,073
Due to other banks o _ o 758,752 539,184

20. Due to customers ‘

31 December 2022

31 Decem bef2021

£'000 £000
Currentaccounts . . 1,575,431 1,964,323
Term deposits . ) - . 3,187,111 2,188,506
Due to customers 4,762,542 4,152,829

2. Provisions

iAccou nting Policy

o~ N 7 *
[Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present tegal or caonstructive obligation as a resultof past events, it is probable that an

.

foutﬂow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and reliable estimates of the amountof the obligation can be made.

Provision for dilapidations  Other provisions Total
£000 £'000 £000
At 31 December 2021 ) 1,757 1,670 3,427 ¢
Expected payment within 12 months 77 1,670 2,647
- Expected payment thereafter ' _ 980 B 980
- At31 December 2021 ' ' 1,757 1,670 3,427
Movementthrough profitor loss ' . 732 732
Provisions utilised ' (777) (777)
At 31 December 2022 ‘ 980 . 2,402 3382
Expected payment within 12 months 2,402 2,402
Expected payment thereafter ’ 980 - 980
At 31 December 2022 . 980 2,402 3382

Provision for dilapidations

‘A ditapidations provision is recognised when there are future obhgatmns relatmg to the return of leasehold properties to their original
condition at the end of the lease term. The provision is based on management s best estimate of the costof meeting the Company's

obligations under its lease contracts.

Other provisions

Other provisions include amounts provided for in relation to ongoing HMRC enquiries and restructurmgcoss No provisioris are required to

be provided for operational claims / losses and litigation.
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22.  Other liabilities

'ccounting Policy

‘Liabilities other than.those specifically accounted for under a separate policy, are stated based on the amounts which are payable in
respect ofgoods or services received up to the balance sheet date. Financial liabilities are measured at amortised costin accordance with

IFRS 9.

31 December 2022 ' Restated

: “£'000 . 31December 2027

£'000

Trade creditors 63€ 1384
Deferred income and'accrued expenses’ amn. 31,627
Settlement balances 1704 . 1,857
Short term compensated absences 50€ 466
Other liabilities 7,138 10,294
Lease liabilities 20,887 22,349

Total other llabllltIES »l 72,042 67,977

'Restated to exclude net loan facility fees of £4,147 988 in accordance with EIR accounting which were incorrectly stated in prior years. The impact on 2020 would have been
£4,603,820. .

23. Lease liabilities

r 7 .- R
‘Accounting Policy

LThe Company recognises lease liabilities, measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee's

‘lrelevant incremental borrowing rate. A range of incremental borrowing rates from 2.05% to 2.30% have been used, which vary depending on
ithe term of the lease. Lease liabilities inctude the net present value of fixed payments.

‘Allthe Company s lease liabilities are in relation to property leases. Note 15 includes relevant lease dlsclosure on the depreuatlon charge,
:additions and carrymg amountof right-of-use assets.

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

£000 £000
Amounts payable . ‘
Payable within one year 200 1320
Payable between one and five years 9,097 7,242
Payable over five years 11,590 13,787 -
Total minimum lease payments 20,887 2349
Principal owing ] ‘
Currentliability ) ' Co 209 1506
Non-current liability 20,820 . 21,029

Total principal owing 21,029 22,535
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24, Share capital

¥ . R
‘Accounting Policy

Ordinary shares |ssued by the Company are recogmsed at the proceeds or fair value recewed with the excess of the amount received over
inominal value being credited to the share prem|um account.

'

Authorised Ordinary Issued, allottedand’ Nominalvalue per  Ordinaryshares issued,

Share Capital ‘ fully paid share allotted and fully paid

Number Number GBP £000

At 31 December 2021 31,595,906 31,595,906 : 1 31,596

At 31 December 2022 31,595,906 . 31,595,906 1 31,596

No share capital was issued, allotted, or consolidated during 2022 (2021: Nit).

»

25. - Other equity and reserves

&ccounting Policy

This reserve comprises amounts taken 1o equity in respect of share-based payments, revaluations of outright bonds, hedged bonds,-
/_s’hedging swaps and treasury shares held at fair value through other comprehensiveincome, in addition to additional tier 1 capital held at

cost.

iThe Company has recelved £66,630,000 as additional tier | qualifying subordinated mstrumentfrom its immediate parent company which it
holds at cost. The subordinated instrumentdoes nothave a maturity date. The instrumenthad a fixed coupon rate of 8.095% which was
e_reset on 12 December 2022 to 10.7369%. The contract contains clauses that can force a write down should the capital ratio of the Company
fall below a specified threshold, and / or upon the occurrenceof a viability event. '

"26. Financial assets a.nd liabilities

261 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
. AccountmgPollcy

\

iThe Company classifies its financial instruments measured at fair value accordingto the following hierarchy:

‘Level 1: The fair value of financiat instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the Balance Sheet date. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
serwce or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.The
.quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the current bid price. Instruments included in level 1 comprise
primarily of quoted bonds and equity instruments.

“Levelz The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)is
determnned by usingvaluation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available
and rely as little as possibleon entity specific estimates. If all significantinputs required to fair value an instrumentare observable, the
mstrumentls included in level 2. If one or more ofthe sngnuf‘cantmputs is notbased on observable market data, the instrumentis included
,un level 3.

xLevel3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). ~

ISpeciﬁc valuation techniques used tovalue financial instruments include:

- quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments;

i the fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as phe present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observableyield
curves :

L the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determlned using forward exchange rates at the Balance Sheet date, with the

'resultmgvalue discounted back to present value.
Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.
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26. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Level1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£'000 E£'000 - £000 £000
Assets: ’
At 31 December 2021 ‘ ]
Derivative financial instruments Co- 10,099 - 10,099
Debt instruments ) ) ' 852,764 .- - 852,764
Total assets measured at fair value . 852,764 . 10,099 - 862,863
At 31 December 2022
Derivative financial instruments , 58,670 - 58,670
Debt instruments : . 1,487,411 - 1,487,411
Total assets measured at fairvalue . . 1,487,411 58,670 - 1,546,081
At 31 December 2021 )

Derivative financial instruments ' ) . - 22,109 - 22,109
Total liabilities measured at fair value . o - 22709 - 22,09
Liabilities:
At 31 December 2022 )
Derivative financial instruments ) - 13,603 - 13,603 .
Total liabilities measured at fair value . - 13,603 - 13,603
Assets less liabilities measured at fair value at 31 December 2021 852,764 (12,010) - 840,754
Assets less liabilities measured at fair value at 31 December 2022 1,487,411 45,067 - 1,532,478

There were no transfers between levels in the current year. .
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26. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

262 Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost f .
. The table below summarises the carrying values and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities that were measured

-at amomsed cost as.of 31 December:

Carryingvalue ~ Fairvalue ) . Difference
’ £000 £000 ’ £000
As at 31 December 2022
Financial assets - .
Cash and balances with central banks’ ) 1,213,286 . 1,213,286 -
Due from other banks ’ : ' (i) ©95177 . 95168 9,
Loans and advances to customers - ’ (i) 2,967,701 2,969,588 (2,487)
Investment in subsidiarys ) - - 1320 . 1320 -
Other Financial assets ' , 9,494 9,899 (405)
i 4,286,378 4,289,261  (2883)
Financial liabilities . .
Due to other banks - ' , iy 758,752 756,548 2,204
Due to customers S : (i) 4,762,542 4,763,819 (1,277)
Other Financial liabilities 29,137 29,499 (362)
’ 5,550,431 5,549,866 565
As at 31 December 2021 (Restated) ’
Financial assets: . S
Cash and balances with central banks . (i} 1244267 1244267 . -
Due from other banks : 0 124,974 124974 - ' :
Loans and advances to customers . (i) 42,764,761 : 2,770,039 (5,278)
Investment in subsidiary’ ' 1,320 1,320 -
Other Financial assets3 ) ) . 211,267 : - 11,267 -
4,146,589 4,151,867 (5,278)
Financial liabilities . . )
Due to other banks . ’ (iii} 539,184 558,455 (19,271)
Due to customers CLGH) - 6152829 4,228,387 (75,558)
Other Financial liabilities3 ) ' 235,255 35,587 . (332)
4,727,268 4,822,629 © (95061)

' The other assets and liabilities in 2022 include non-financial assets of £17,519,000 and include non-financial liabilities of £42,905,000which is not
inciuded in the table above..
2 The other assets and liabilities in 2021 include non-ﬁnanpial assets of £13,727,000 and include non-financial liabilities of £32,722,000 which is not

" included in the table above. ‘ ‘ B '
*Restatement of 2021 in order to include Other financial assets and Other financial liabilities.
“Restated to include netloan fécility fee§ inloans and advances to customers of £4,147,988 in accordance with EIR accounting Which were incorrectly
stated in prior years. The impaci is byrely presentational within the notes to the abcounts with no impact on the Income Staiementor Statement of
Financial Position. The impact on 2020 would have been £4,603,820. i ' '
S Restated to include Investment in subsidiary.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents -

Cash and cash equivalents includes balances with central banks and other inter-bank placements and items in the courseof collection. The
fair value of floating rate placements, overnightdeposits and term deposits with a maturity of less than 90 days is assumed to be their
carryingamount, as the effect of discountingis notsignificant The fair values are within level 2*of the fair value hierarchy. i

(ii) Loansand advancesto customers

Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment The estimated fair value of loans and advances represents the discounted
amountof estimated future cash flows expected to be received up to the next interest reset date. Expected cash flows are discounted at
currentmarket rates to determine fair value. The determined fair values are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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26. ‘Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(iii) Due to other banks and customers :

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which mcludes non-interest-bearing deposits, is the amount repayable on
demand. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value. The determingd fair values are within level 2
of the fair value hierarchy.

27.  Credit risk . ) N

Creditrisk refers to the possibility thata financial loss will occur because of a borrower's or counterparty’s deteriorating creditworthiness
~and/or inability to meet its financial obllgauons TheCompany's primary creditexposures retate to loans collateral:sed by mortgages, cash
or by securities portfolios, or to rated fnanmal institutions, sovereigns and corporates.

271 Credit risk management

(a) Loans and advances

A key feature of the credit approval process is a separation between the Company’s business origination and credit risk management
activities. Creditrequests are initiated by Client Relationship Officers (CROs')and mustbe supported by a senior member ofthe Credit -
Committee, independent of the CROs. The Company's CreditCommittee ensures the implementation of the ‘creditpolicies and procedures,
as defined by the board, and approves major clientcreditrelated risks. The CreditAdministration Department monitors creditexposures
linked to and arising from investment securities, amounts due from banks, and loans and advances to customers, againstapproved limits
and pledged collateral. Management is required to understand the background and purpose of each loan (which is typically for investment
.insecurities, funds, and investment related insurance policies or real estate) as well as the risks of the underlyingcollateral of each loan.
The Com pany’s internal grading system assigns each client creditexposureto aneof ten rating categories. The rating assesses the
borrower's repaymentability and the value, quality, liquidity and dii/ersiﬁlcation of the collateral securing the credit exposure. The credit
policy and the nature ofthe loans ensure that the loan book is of high quality. Consequently, an overwhelming majority of the Company’s
credit exposures are rated within the top'three categories. The following table describes the internal definition of different grading levels
(broadly they follow the risk categories of external rating agencies):

Grading " Description of grade . S&P’s rating
1 Top ‘ Secured by “cash collateral or equivglent” - good diversification AAA

2 High Secured by “cash collateral or equivalent” - imperfect diversification " AA

3 Very good Secured by “other collateral” : A

4 Good Partly secured by “cash collateral or equivatent” ' . BBB~

5 Acceptable Unsecured but prime borrower ' BB

6 Weak Borrower situation/collateralt value is deteriorating ' , B

7 Poor Conditions ofinitial creditare no longer being met ' cce

8 - Unacceptable " Interest is no longer being paid - collateral is béing held - CCwoC

9 Poténtial loss Bank holds illiquid - uncollectible or no collateral o ‘ D

10 LOSS No collateral or uncollectible collateral . D

(b) Debt securities and other bills
For debt securities and other bills, external credltratmgs such as Standard & Poor’s rating or their equivalents are used by the Company for

managmgthe creditrisk exposures.

v

- 272 Risk timit control and mitigation policies
Creditloans secured by real estate are treated in conformity with regulation pertammgto examination, valuation and treatment of credits

secured by real estate and with the internal policies and procedures on mortgage lending. All the real estate provided as collateral will be
evaluated at origination by the Creditdepartments and by external professionals. Furthér evaluation during the life of loan will take place
as required by the relevant rules and policies. Mortgage valuations are reviewed monthly using statistical (indexation) methods, and larger
mortgages are subjectto independent valuations every three years. :

To qualify as collateral for a Lombard loan, a client’s securities portfolio must generally be well diversified with differing haircuts applied

dependingon the type of risk profile and liquidity of the security. Additional haircuts are applied if the loan and the collateral are notin
the same currency and maturity, or dnver5|ﬂcat|on criteriaare notfully met
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27. Credit risk (continued)

The Creditdepartment monitors creditexposures againstapproved limits and pledged collateral for the Lombard-portfolio. If necessary,
they initiate rectiﬁcation steps. Most collateral is valued daily (but may be valued more frequently during periods of high market volatility).

The Company's managementof exposure to financialinstitutions is based on a'system of counterparty l|m|Ls which is coordmated atthe .
EFGI Group level, adapted for the Company's country limits. Limits for exposure to counterparties are granted based upon the Com pany's
internal analysis. The limits are-set and supervised by the relevant Group Committees depending on each counterparty’s S&P or Moody's

) ratings (with reference to individual and supportratings) and on the ‘counterparty’s total equity. These limits are annually reported to the
Company's Risk Committee. The Company’s other specific areas of consideration and mitigation measures are outlined below.

(a) Collateral
The Com pany employs arange of policies and practices to mitigate creditrisk. The most traditional of these is the taklng of security for

credit exposures. The Company implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral for creditrisk mitigation. The
principal cotlateral types for loans and advances are: .

- mortgages over residential and to a limited extent commercial property;

- charges over cash balances held with the Company and cash equivalent;

- charges over financial instruments such as.debt secuntles equities and funds; and

- bank guarantees.

(b) Derivatives _ )
The Company maintains aregular monitoring of market risk exposure induced by over-the-counter derivative trading. The market risk

exposure reflects the current market value of the exposure'and the potential future value of the exposure.

(c) Credit related commitments

Creditrelated commitments include the following:
guarantees, forward contracts and standby letters of credit: these carry the same creditrisk as loans;

- commitments to extend credit: these represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of loans, guarantees or
letters ‘of credit The Company is potentially exposed to loss for an amountequal to the total unused commitments. However,
commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific creditstandards.

Guarantees can be issued, and lines of credit drawn by customers only if they have adequate collateral pledged with the Company. Most -
credit facilities would be rated by the Company with an internal grading of 1to 3. :

27.3 Credit loss measurement ‘
The Company applies the ‘three-stage’ approach introduced by IFRS 9 for imbairment measurement:
Stage 1: for financial assets that have not experienced a significantincrease in creditrisks (SICR) since initial recagnition a 12-months

expected credit losses (ECL)is measured;
- Stage 2: for financial assets that experienced a SICR sinceinitial recognmon (butnot yet deemed to be credit-impaired) a lifetime ECL is

measured; .
Stage 3: forcredvt impaired or defaulted financial assets a lifetime ECL is measured.

Specific ECL measurements have been developed for each type of credit exposure.

27.3.1 Due from banks and investment securities

This category inctudes balances with central banks, due from other banks, tfeasury bills and other eligible bills, and investmentsecurities.

Inputs and assumptions

The ECL for all products above is estimated using three components:
EAD (exposure at default): book value (amortised cost assets) and purchasevalue adjusted for amortisation and discountunwind
(financial assets at fair value through other comprehensiveincome);
PD (probability of default): estimated based on external counterparty credit risk rating information (Standard & Poor’s annual global
corporate default study and rating transition). For unrated instruments a BBB is considered as a proxy; and
LGD (loss given default): for Stage 1 and Stage 2 assets aligned to the creditdefault swap ISDA market standard (recovery rate 40%) In
case of Stage 3 assets, determined on an individual basis.
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27. Credit risk (continued)

Estimation techniques

Macroeconomic expectations for sovereign securities and central bank debt are incorporated viatheir respective external rating as part of
their assessmentof counterparty credit risk. For banks and corporate counterparties, the PD and related transition matrices are impacted
based on macroeconomic expectations. '

Significant increase in credit risk
ASICR is determined based onrating changes and individually assessed by an internal expert panel consrdermga range of external market
.information (e.g, credit defaultspreads rating outlook). .

Definition of default
The default is triggered through a payment defaulton the instrumentor any cross-defaultindication.

273.2 Lombard lending
Lombard lendingincludes loans and advances to customers covered by financial collaterals. Being secured by diversified portfolnos of
investment securmes the risk of default of the loans is driven by the collateral.

Inputs and assumptions

The exposure of lombard loans considers potential drawdowns, and the ECL is estimated by means of two components:
ECL due to adverse market price movements that captures the risk that a shortfall arises when collateral values decrease to a level
insufficientto cover the respective lombard loan exposure(based on assumptions regarding market price volatility of collateral asset
classes, currency mismatch between loan and collateral, close-outperiods and LGD considering collateral liquidation sales cost) and
ECL due to a default of a large single collateral position (Top 1to Top 5) yietding ashortfall for the Lombard loan exposure (based on PD
and LGD for each sub-asset class based on counterparty risk ratings, LGD to assess the collateral value after default and close-out

. periods).

Estimation techniques :
As opposed to the general measurement approach, the ECL measurement for lom bard loans is not based on the PD but on the probability

to reach the close-outtrigger level and the related expected positiveexposure(EPE). The latter corresponds to an uncovered shortfall
which in combination with the LGD parameter determines the ECL. No additional macro-conditioning of variables is necessary as
macroeconomic effects are captured through parameters such as volatility and loan-to-value (LTV) levels. Post-model adjustments have
been recognised on selected individual cases for which risks and uncertainties cannot be adequately reflected with the existing models.

Srgmfrcant increase in credit risk
A SICR occurs once the close-out trigger (based on collateral LV) is reached and contextually the computed ECL is above a materiality

threshold.

Definition of default
Lombard loans that were closed-outor have their collateral tiquidated, resultingin an actual shortfall, or where liquidation is stitlin
progress resultingin a potential shortfall are considered credit-impaired and classified as Stage 3.

2733 Mortgages and other loans
All loans and advances to customers notconsidered lombard lending areincluded in this classification. Theseare residential and
commercial mortgages, commercial loans, and overdrafts.

Inputs and assumptions \

The ECL for mortgages and other loans is estimated usmgthree components:

- EAD: the exposure considers contractual repayments, as well as potential drawdown over the tifetime of the loan;
PD: derived from historical transition matrices. To derive forward -looking default estimates, these matrices are calibrated to the macro-
economic expectation;
LGD: calculated based on the possrbrlrty to cure(derlved from the transition matrix), considering the current LTV level and the future
recovery value of the underlying property for mortgages (computed considering house price development and sales costs proxies).

Estimation techniques ,
Each loan is assigned to a risk grade on the basis of its credit quality (i.e. rank order estimation).
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27. Credit risk {continued)

P

Forward-looking macroeconomic effects are incorporated W|th forecasts on gross domestic product (GDP) growth, unem ploymentra[e and
house priceindex (HPI).

Post-model.adjustments have been recognised on selected individual cases for which risks and uncertainties cannot be adequately -
reflected with the existing models.

Significant increase in.credit risk
ASICR is experienced by any exposure greater than 30 days past due, or with a deterloratlon of other criteria{such as rank order estimation

or watchlist status), or previously defaulted {one-year cure).

Definition of default .
Any exposure greater than 90 days past due, or other crltena (such as rank order estimation or watchllst status) or following an individual

assessmentis considered credn impaired and classified as stage 3.

S 274 Contractual modifications
The Company modifies the terms of loans provided to customers dueto commeraal renegouanons or for dlstressed loans, with a view of

maximising recovery. Such restructuring activities include extended payment term arrangements, payment holidays and payment
forgiveness. Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgmentof management, mdncate that
payment will most likely continue. .

The risk of default of such assets after modification is assessed at the reporting date and compared with the risk under the original terms
of initial recognition, when the modification is notsubstantial and so does not resultin derecognition of the original asset The Company
may determine that the credit risk has significantly |mproved after restructurmg so that the assets are moved from Stage 3 or Stage 2 in
accordance with the new terms for six consecutive months or more. :

275  Write-off policy
The Company writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has concluded there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no-reasonable expectation of recovery include: '

- Ceasing enforcement activity;
- Where the Company's recovery method is foreclosingon ¢ollateral and the value'of the collateral is such that there is no reasonable

expectation of recoveringin full,

~ The Company may write-off financial assets that are still subjectto enforcement activity. The Company still seeks to recover amounts itis
legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no reasonable expectations of full recovery.

276 Macro-economic scenario and sénsitivity analysis

—

The ECL results are based on forward- lookmg projections. These projections consider dlfjerentmacroeconomuc scenarios (basellne upside,
downside and stress scenario) computed on the basis of forecasts and historical volatility.

The mostrelevant forward-lqoking macroeconomic assuruptions affecting the ECL are as follows:

For residential and commercial‘mortgages HPI, given the impactit has on mortgage collaterat valuations; GDP and unemployment
rate, given the correlation with the customers’ wealth, as well as the commerualcllents business environment, hencein turn their

ability to repay the loans
For due from customers ~lombard lending: asset volatllnty given the |mpact ithas on Fnancuai collateral valuations
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27.- Credit risk (continu ed')

Most significant macro-economic scenario assumptions

As of 31 December 2022, the forecast macroeconomic scenarioswere weighted 30% for the béseline, 20% for the upside, 40% for the

downside and 10% for the stress scenario

2023 2024 © 2025
" Weighted G7 GDP grovith Baseline 0.8% 13% 1.7%
' Upside 1.7%. 2.0% 23%
Downside - (0.0%) 0.6% 1.1%
Stress (1.0%) (0.2%) 0.5%
G7 Unemployment rate Baseline 0.6% 04% 0.1%) . '
' Upside 02% 02% 0.2%)
Downside 09% 05% (0.0%)
- Stress 1.2% 0.7% 0.1% .
HousePrice Index UK (London) Base (2.0%) 20% 49%
Upside 52% 8.6% 10.5%
Downside (8.6%) (4.0%) 0.2%)
Stress {i5.8%) (10.6%) (5.8%)

The table betow illustrates the impacton ECL from reasonably possible changes in the main parameters from the actual assumptions used.
For mortgages and other loans the upside, downside and stress ECL scenarios have been applied, while for Lombard loans the volatilities

have been doubled (stress scenario).

Portfolio . Parameters .
Upside sensitivity
%

GDP growth and House price
indices
Volatilities

: )

Mortgages and other
loans -
Lombard loans

(0.1%)

277 Credit risk exposure

na..

Scenario

Downside sensitivi

%

ty Stress sensitivity
%
52% 76.4%
n.a.'

394.6%

The table below summarises the carrying values, credit grades, expected credit loss allowance by stage and fair values of collateral of those

financial assets that were measured at amortised cost(or at FVOCI) as of 31 December:
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27. Credit risk (continued)

) Total
AAA-AA A BBB-BB B-C  Unrated carryingvalue

" 31 December 2022 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 E‘OQO
Cash and balances with central banks 1,204,082 - - - 19,204 1,213,286
Due from other banks . 32,409 62,692 - - 76 93177
Loans and advances to customers 2,735,070 136,600 26,959 44,225 24,247 2,967,101
Investment securities - FVOCI 1,414,530 72,881 - - ; 148741
Investment in subsidiary 1320 . - - : 11320
Other financial assets 129 8,662 n § 632 9,494
Total assets as at 31 December 2022 5,387,540 280,835 27,030 44,225 34,159 5,773,789
Loan Commitments 98340 34,961 280 75 154 133,810
Financial Guarantees 17,041 - - - - 17,041
Total 5,502,921 315,796 27,310 44,300 34,313 5,924,640
31 December 2021 (Restated)

Cash and balances with central banks 1264113 - - - 154 1,244,267

~ Due from other banks 12,540 103,856 2 - 8,576 124,974
Loans and advances to‘cus['omers 2,511,942 166,758 23,043 54,119 8,8992 2,764,761
Investment securities - FVOCI 852,764 - - - - - 852,764
Investment in subsidiary3 1,320 - - - - 1320
Other financial assets 100 8,449 706 - 2,012 - 11,267
Total assets as at 31 December 2021 4,622,779 279,063 23,751 54,119 19,641 4,999,353
Loan Commitments 72,513 49,536 990 38 - . 123,077
Financial Guarantees 6,056 - - - 3,462 9518

. Total 4,701,348 328599 L2474 54,157 T 23703 5,131,948

ECL Staging
ECL allowance
Fairvalueof  Totalcarrying Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 uTc(uded l_n
collateral held value : carryingvalues
31 December 2022 £'000 " £'000 . £000 £000 £000 £000
Cash and balances with central banks - 1,213,286 - .- - -
Due from other banks - 95,177 - - - -
Loans and advances to customers 6,115,023 2,967,101 230 . 178 996 1,404
Investment securities - FVOCI - 1,487,411 99 - d -99

, Investment in subsidiary - 1320 - - - -
Other financial assets - 9,494 - - - -
Total assets as at 31 December 2022 6.115,023 5.773,789 329 178 996 1503
Loan commitments - 133,810 - - - -
Financial guarantees - 17,041 - - - -

Total 6,115,023 5,924,640 329 178 -996 1,503
31 December 2021 (Restated)

“ Cash and balances with central banks - 1,244,267 - - - -
Due from other banks - 124,974 - - - -
Loans and advances to customers 5,810,666 2,764,761 134 118 1,432 1,684
Investment securities - FVOCI - 852,764 27 - - 27
Investment in subsidiary? - 1,320 - - - -
Other financial assets - 11,267 - - - -
Total assets as at 31 December 2021 5,810,666 4,999,353 161 18 1,432 1,7M
Loan commitments : ' - )y 123,077 - - . B
Financial guarantees - 9,518 - - - -
Total . 5,810,666 5,131,948 161 18 1,432 171
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27 Credit risk (continued)

'Restated to move the Card Limits of £3,462,250 from Irrevocable Commitments (Not later than 1 year) to Guarantees Issued in favour of third parties (1-5'years)

in 2021 as these are guarantees.

Restated to include net loan facullty feesof £4,147, 988 in accordance Wll’.h EIR accounting were mcorrectly stated in prlor years. The impact on 2020 would have *

been £4,603,820.
*Restated to include Investment in subsidiary.”

Maximum exposure to credit risk for cash and balances with central banks is GBP 1,213,286 (2021: GBP 1,244,267), due from other banks is
GBP 95,177 (2021: GBP 124,974), loans and advances to customers is GBP 2,967,101 (2021: GBP 2,764,761), and investmentsecurities is

GBP1,487,411 (2021: GBP 852,764).

278 Cash and balances with central banks - gross exposures, movements and loss altowances

The table below presents the aggregate changes in gross carryingvalues and loss allowarices for balances with central banks (excluding

cash):
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 . Total
£000 £000 £000 . £000
Gross carrying value as at 1 )anuary 2021 791,333 - - - 791,333
Financial assets derecognised during the period other-than write-offs (6,735,085) - - - (6,735,085)
New financial assets originated or purchased : 7,188,019 - - 7188,019°
Gross carryingvalue as at 31 December 2021 1,244,267 - - s 1,244,267
Financial assets derecognised during the period other than write-offs (8,564,544) - - (8,564,544)
New financial assets originated or purchased 7 8533563 - ) ' 8,533,563
Gross carryingvalue as at 31 December 2022 1,213,286 N ) 1,213,286
Loss allowanceas at 1January 2021 - - - -
Movements with P&L impact - - - -
Loss atlowance as at 31 December 2021
Movements with P&L impact
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2022 - - - -
Net carryingvalue as at 31 December 2021 ~ 1,244,267 - - 1,244,267
1,213,28€ - - 1,213,286

Net carryingvalue as at 31 December 2022

There were no purchased creditimpaired balances during the reporting period, nor were the terms of any contracts modified. in

addition; no amounts were written off in the period.
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27. Credit risk (continued)

‘

279 Due from other banks- gross exposures, m‘ovements-and loss allowances

The table below presents the aggregate changes in gross carrying values and loss allowances for due from other banks:

Stage Stage 2 Stage 3 ' Total

R ) £000 £'000 £'000 £000
Gross carrying value as at 1 January 2021 : 107,297 - - 107,297
Financial assets derecognised during the period other than write-off (107,297) .- -~ (107,297)
New financial assets originated-or purchased s - 124,973 - - 124,973
Gross carryingvalue as at 31 December 2021 ) 124,973 - - - 126973
Financial-assets derecognised duringthe period other than write-off . " (124,973) ) - - (124,973)
New financial assets originated or purchased . 95,177 - - - 95177
Gross carryingvalue as at 31 December 2022 . . 95,177 - - 95,177
Loss allowance as at 1January 2021 ' . Lo - - -
Financial assets derecognised during the period other than write-offs - - - -
New financial assets originated or purchased ) . - - - -
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 : - - - -
Financial assets derecognised ddringtﬁe period other, than write-offs ~ - . - - -
New financial assets originated or purchased - . - B -
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2022 - . ‘ '
Net carryingvalue as at 31 December 2021 . : 124973 . - 1264973 -

9517 . - - 195177

Net carryingvalue as at 31 December 2022

There were no purchased creditimpaired balances duringthe reporting period, nor were the terms of any contracts modified:|n addition,
no amounts were written off in the period. ' '
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27. Credit risk (continued)

27.10 Investment Securities - gross exposures; movements and loss allowances

The table below presents the aggregate changes in gross carryingvalues and loss atlowances for Investment securities held at FVOCI:

Stage 1 Stage 2 ‘Stage 3 Total

E'000 £000 £°000 E'000
Gross carrying value as at 1January 2021 : 750,042 - - 1750,042
Financial assets derecognised during the period other than write-offs (340462) . - - {340,462)
New financial assets originated or purchased 453370 © - ot 453,370
Changes in fair value ' B (11,330) - I (1,330)
Changes in interest accrual L24 _ - o 424
FX and other movements 747 - R 747
Gross carryingvalue as at 31 December 2021 852,791 - - 852,791
Financial assets derecognised during the period other than write-offs (s87.718) - - - (587,718)
New financial assets originated or purchased V177,277 . : - 1177.277
Changes in fair value (57,029) - o (57,029)
Changes in interest accrual (1758) co- - (1,758)
FX and other movements 103,947 - - 103,947
Gross carryingvalue as at 31 December 2022 1,487,510 - - 1,487,510
Loss allowance as of 1January 2021 38 - T 38
Movements with P&L impact - New financial assets originated or purchased (1) - - ()

Loss altowance as at 31 December 2021 * z o ' ) 77

Movements with P&L impact - New financial assets ongmated or purchased - 72 ) - 72
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2022 - 99 - - 29
Net carryingvalue as at 31 December 2021 852,764 - . : 852,764

1,487,411 . - Co- 1,487,417

Net carryingvalue as ét 31 December 2022

There were no purchased creditimpaired balances during the reporting period, and no terms of contracts were modnﬁed tn addition, no
amounts were written-off in the period.

~-
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27. Credit risk (continued)

\

2711 Loans and Advances to customers - gross exposures, movements and toss allowances

Loans and advances to customers comprise the following; .
31 December 2022 31 December 2021

£000 £000
(1) Mortgage loans B Gross , 201,252 1,809,606
‘ ’ €L Y (1373) (1,660)
(ii) Other and lombard toans Gross 871,619 960,987
’ ECL (3n (24)
(ii) Deferred loan fee (4,366) (4,148)
Total loans and advances to customers 2,967,101 2,764,761
- (i) Mortgage loans - gross exposures, movements and loss allowances
T . 7. : '
The table below presents the aggregate changes in gross carryingvalues and loss allowances for morigage loans:
’ : Stage1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £000
Gross carryingvalue as of 1)January 2021 . - 1,332,356 64,745 . 40,256 1,437,360
Transfer (from) Stage 1 to other stages (82,456) 43,007 39,445 -
Transfer (from) Stage 2 to other stages . 22,393 T (25415) 3,022 ‘ -
Transfer (from) Stage 3 to other stages o 2,718 5811 (8,529, - ! -
Financial assets derecognised duringthe period - "~ (236,015) - - (236,015) .
Reclassified from other and lombard loans during the period 9,646 12 (123, - 9,535
New financial assets originated : ' 662,523 - - - 662,523
Change in exposure on existing loans . (14,867) (35,934) (12,996, (63,797)
Gross carryingvalue as at 31 December 2021 ’ 1,696,298 52,226 61,082 © 1,809,606
Transfer (from)Stage 1to other stages (85,195) - 67,527 17,66¢ -
Transfer (frém)Stage 2 to other stages. - 6077 (17,580) 11,503 -
Transfer (from)Stage 3 to other stages . - 6,489 (6,489, -
Financial assets derecogniséd duringthe period . ) (359,974) (25,133) (25,876, (410,983)
Reclassified from other and lombard loans during the period 14,989 792. (7, ' 15,064
New financial assets originated e 664,692 12,464 10192 - 687,348
Change in exposure on existing loans (10) 219 . € .27
Gross carryingvalue as at 31 December 2022 1,936,877 97,004 - 67,371 2,101,252
Loss allowance as at 1)anuary 2021 - 190 16 1,267 1,473
Transfer (from) Stage 1 to other stages ) (2) 2 - o
Transfer (from) Stage 2 to other stages . . 21, ) (41) 20 -
Transfer (from) Stage 3 to other stages 199 30 ' (229, ' -
Financial assets derecognised during the period (288) 110 (471, (649)
Reclassified from ather and lombard loans during the period . 3 - 35 38
New financial assets originated : 63 15 728 806
Change in value on existing loans - (57) - (33) 82 (8)
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 129 99 1,432 1,660
Transfer (from)Stage 1to other stages o) 22 196 o
Transfer (from)Stage 2 to other stages 1 @G 30 -
Transfer (from)Stage 3 to other stages - 20 (20; -
Financial assets derecognised duringthe period : 148 (15) ‘ (782) . (649)
Reclassified from / (to) other and lombard loans during the period 3 - 35 38.
New financial assets originated 7 63 15 254 32
Change in value on existing loans ‘ (57) (33) : 82 (8)
7 1,230 . 1373

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2022 . . 66

There were no purchased creditimpaired balances during the reporting period, and no terms of contracts were modiﬁéd. No amounts (202t
Enit) were written-off in the period.
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27. Credit risk (continued)

(i) Other and lombard loans - gross exposures and loss allowances

The table below presents the aggregate changes in gross carrying values arid loss allowances for other and lombard loans:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
" F'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Gross carryingvalue as at1january 2021 724,649 16,211 1,667 742,527
. Transfer (from)Stage 1 to other stages (8,797) 5,920 2877 -
Transfer (from)Stage 2 to other stages 9814 (9,814) - -
Transfer (from) Stage 3 to other stages - - - -
Financial assets derecognised during the period (83,027} - (1,090) (84,117)
Reclassified to mortgage loans during the period (9,646) (12) 123 (9,535)
New financial assets‘originated 289,270 - - - 289,270
Change in exposure on existing loans 22,927 (50) (35) 22,842
Gross carryingvalue as at 31 December 2021 945,190 12,255 3,542 960,987
Transfer (from) Stage 1to other stages ) : . )
Transfer (from) Stage 2 to other stages - - - )
Transfer (from)Stage 3 to other stages - . ) )
Financial assets derecognised during the period (298.810; - - (298,810)
Reclassified to mortgage loans during the period (14,989) (792) n (15,064)
New financial assets originated 220,329 500 220,829
Change in exposure on existing loans 3,677 - - 3,677
Gross carryingvalue as at 31 December 2022 855,397 11,963 4259 871,619
Loss allowance as of 1 January 2021 50 13 50 13
Transfer from Stage 1 to.other stages - - - -
Transfer (from)Stage 2 to other stages - - - -
Transfer (from) Stage 3 to other stages - - - -
Financial assets derecognised during the period (35) (13) (15) (63)
Reclassified to mortgage loans during the period 3) - (35) (38)
New financial assets originated 2 % C- 16
Change invalue on existingloans (10; 6 - (4)
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 4 20 : 24
Financial assets derecognised duringthe period ) (13) - (18)
Reclassified to mortgage loans during the period @) - - @)
New financial assets originated 18 14 - 32
Change in value on existing loans {10) 6 - (4)
4 -2 -

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2022 -

28. Market risk

31

The Company engages in the trading of securities, derivatives, foreign exchange and money market paper on behalf of its clients.The
Company does notengage in proprietary trading in securities. The Company maintains smalt proprietary positions in foreign exchange

instruments.

The Company separates exposures to market risk into either trading or non-trading portfolios. Both securities and foreign exchange

exposures are limited by nominal overnightand value at Risk ('VaR') limits. Foreign exchange is also subject to intraday limits, as well as to
daily and monthly stop loss monitoring. Adherence to all limits is monitored independently of Treasury department who are responsible for -
managing market risk. Due to the nature of the Company's business and the absence of any meaningful proprietary trading activities, the
market risk resulting from trading positions is limited compared to overall market risk.
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28. Market risk (continued)

281 Market risk measurement. methodology

Market risk exposure is measured in several ways, namely; nominal and VaR exposure, gap reports, sensitivity to risk factors and stress

tests. VaR is not used for regulatory reporting of risks and is used internally only, for control and management purposes of FX exposure and -
credit risk exposure in the Treasury investment portfolio. The Company applies limits to all market risks. Limits include nominal, stop loss,

rating quality and concentration types, depending upon the nature of the market risk concerned. In addition, positions are also measured
in the event of extreme market movements (stress testlng) The major measurementtechmques used to measure and control market risk,

are outlined below.

281.1 value at risk }

VaR measures the potential loss impacton open risk positions, under normal market conditions. VaR is calculated using statistically
expected changes in market parameters for a given holdingperiod at a specified level of probability. The internal model is based on a
variance/co-variance approach and uses a 99% one-tailed canfidence level. The model assumes a10-day holding period for purposes of
group internal risk reporting, with a 201-day observation period for market variables. The vaR modelis adjusted on an ongoingbasis in
response to developments in the financial markets and to changes in our risk management needs. Risk parameters based on the VaR
methodology are calculated daily. The use of this approach does not prevent losses outside of these limits in the event of moresignificant
market movements.

281.2 IRRBB Economicvalue of equity, interest income sensitivity and maturity gap metrics :

The Economic Value of Equity (EVE) sensitivity metric refers to risks on the Company'’s capital, arising from adverse movements in interest
rates that affect the Company’s batance sheet Changes in interest rates affect the underlyingvalue of the Company’s assets, liabilities and
off-balance sheet items and hence its economic value. The Net interest Income (NIi) senSitivity metric refers to risks on the Company's )
earnings, arising from adverse movements in interest rates that affect the Company’s banking book positions. Changes in interest rates
affect the Company's earnings by altering interest rate-sensitive incomeand expenses, affecting its net interest income. These two metrics
together with the Maturity Gap metric that measures the Company’s IR mismatch arethe key measures monitoring interest rate risk.

The Company has implemented an interest rate risk framework in accordanceto its business model and its interest rate risk exposure,
where stress testing is used as the primary technique to measure IRRBB. The stress tests used include the regulatory +/-200bp parallel
moves and other scenarios as appropriate to ensure the key interest rate risks in the Banking Book are captured. The impact of IRRBB is
monitored monthly. The table below shows the IRRBB EVE sensitivity to a parallet upward and downward move of 200bps in interestrates.

Through the economic value of equity measure, the Company computes achange in the net present value of assets, liabilities and off-
balance sheet items, subjectto specific interest rate stress scenarios. The economic value of equity sensitivity reflects changes in value
over the remaining life of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items (i.e, until all positions have run off) and includingall pricing
components (e.g, margin payments).

Non-maturing products are modelled using replicating portfolios, considering behavioural characteristics. Non-maturity products

assumptions are builtaround the following three analysis steps:
i) Correlation to market rates - magnitude of deposits rate shifts, in response to market rates changes

ii)  Volume stability - estimate of the stability of outstandingvolume, and
iii) Volume decay - rate at which balances are being reduced from the accountoutstandingvolume

Based on the above steps, non-maturing products are replicated, so that they can be assigned a synthetic maturity and transformed into
fixed-incomeinstruments. The synthetic maturity is based on parameters specific to the Company, considering a segmentation into retait
and wholesale categories. Products placed by an md|v1dual person fallin the retail category, while sole proprietorships or partnerships are

captured in the wholesale category.
The Company considers embedded options in banking products, such as loans and deposits. Concerningembedded options in loans, floor

options (for example the cost of funding will never go below zero) are captured and optional cash flows are generated usinga deterministic
‘model.
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28. " Market risk -(continued)

Stress scenario outcomes are highly affected by optional elements embedded in banking products, especiatly on loans (floors) and other

financial products (including behavioural options specific to the Com pany). The stress scenarios activate optional elements when shocked
rates fall in negative territory. Consequently, the economic value of equity sensitivity is notsymmetric between the upward and downward
stress scenarios, heightening the economic value of equity in case of a parallel down stress scenario.

IRRBB - Economic value of equity (GBP) 31 December2022 31 December2021
' £000 £000
» Impact Impact
IRRBB moves 200bps down 17,376 ~ 50,210
IRRBB moves 200bps up : ) (13,620) (8,236,

28.1.3 Stress tests )
The risk calculations explained above are complemented by a suite of stress tests, that identify the potential impact of extreme market
scenarios on portfolio values. These stress tests simutate both exceptional movements in prices or rates and drastic deteriorations in
market correlations. In addition to nominal limits and stop losses, they are the primary tools used for internal market risk management

28.2 Market risk hedging suategues

The Company is exposed to financial risks arising from many aspecs ofits business. The Company implements different risk management
strategies to eliminate or reduce market risk exposures. Risks being hedged through derivative fi financial instruments’are typically changes
in interest rates and foreign currency rates or effects of other risks. The Company implements fair value and cash flow hedging strategies.

28.2.1 Fair value hedging strategies
The risk being hedged in a fair value hedging strategy is a changein the fair value of an asset or liability that is attributable to a particular

risk and could affect P&L or the economic value of equity. Changes in fair value mightarise through changes in interest rates, foreign
exchange rates or other attributes. The Company implements fair value hedges of individual hedged items {micro fair value hedging).

28.2.2 Cash flow hedging strategies

The risk being hedged in a cash flow hedging strategy is the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and could affect P&L or the economic value of
equity. Future cash flows mightrelate to existing assets and liabilities, such as future interest payments or receipts on floating rate debt.
Future cash flows can also relate to forecast revenues or costs deriving from aforeign currency exposure. Volatility in future cash flows
mightresult from changes in interest rates or exchange rates.

283 Market risk measurement and value at risk
* VaRSummary "’

The following table presents the VaR (10-d / 99%) for currency risk considering all positions at Balance Sheet level:

VaR by risk type . At31 December 12 rﬁonths to 31 December

, Average i High Low

. £000 ‘ £000 £000 £000
VAR on Currency risk - 31 December 2022 -~ " 35 . 33 : 790 : 6
VAR on Currency risk - 31 December 2021 13 40 1,278 S

The Company carries outforeign currency operations both for its clients, and for its own account Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments, and trading activities in foreign operations. From time to
time, the Company may enter currency hedging arrangements to reduce the effects of exchange rate fluctuations onits income.

28.4 Market risk measurement and capital management strategies

The straiegic report details the company approach to managing capital on pages 4 to 5. CET1capital decreased by £29.6 million 10 £165.6
~ million (2021: £195.2 million) as a result of a decrease in CET1 capital and increase in Risk Weighted Assets. '
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28. Market risk (continued) : . o o
285 Market risk measurement, ,repricing- gaps ' ' BN

The following table summarises the repricing gap of the Company's financial instruments based on the undiscounted
cashflows, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates:

- . Upto3 3-12 -5 Over5 Non-interest .
months months . years " years bearing Total
. £000- £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000
As at 31 December 2022
Assets ’ .
Cash and balances with central banks 1,213,286 - - .- - 1,213,286
Due from other banks 72476 1 - 4,838 7862 95177
Derivative financial instruments 10 - 30 21,023 37,607 58,670
Financial assets at FVOCI . 102,31 678,180 015m - -, 5,409 1,487,411
Loans and advances'to customers 2,925,892 1,017 ) 15,888 8,869 15,434 2,967,101
Investment in subsidiary - - "~ - 1320 - 1,320
Other financial assets’ - - - - 9,494 9,494
Total financial assets 4,313,975 679,198 717,429 . : 34,730 87,126 5,832,458
- Liabilities . '
Due to other banks 724,541, 33,286 - - 925 758,752
Due to customers A 3,550,096 685,202 . - - 527244 4,762,542
Derivative financial instruments 5,460 - - - 8,143 13,603
Other financial liabilities? 1,553 . 65 301 8124 19,094 29,137
‘Totalfinancial liabilities 4,281,650 718,553 301 8,124 555,406 5,564,034
On-Balance Sheet interest repricing gap 32,326 . (39,355) ) 717,128 . 26,606 (468,280) 268,425
(19,147) (107,222) 27,120 - (119,318)

Off-Balance Sheet interest repricing gap (20,069)

L}
. . ’ C.
'The other assets and tiabitities in 2022 include non-financial assets of £17,519,000 and include non-financiat liabilities of £42,905,000 which is not included in

the table above.

Restated as at 31 December 2021

Assets . .
Cash and balances with central banks : 1,244114 - ) - ' - ' 153 - 1,244,267
Due from other banks 103,577 - - - 21397 124,974
Derivative financial instruments 4,818 - - . - . 5,281 - 10,099 -
Financial assets at FVOCI . ©255.177 295,529 234,523 64,277 3,258 852,764
Loans and advances to customers 2,711,416% 1,670’ 33635 . 10,603 . 7,437 . ‘ 2,764,761
Investment in subsidiary - - - - 1,320 1,320
Other financial assets’ - - ) - - 11,267 11,267
Total financial asséts 4,319,102 297,199 268,158 74,880 50,113 5_,009,452
Liabilities ~

Due to other banks 538,934 ‘ - - - 250 . 539,184
Due to customers - A +2,995,115 466,394 - - 691,320 4,152,829
Derivativefinancial instruments ©o- 4236 - - - - 17,873 22,109
Other financial liabilities! - 679 | | 642 7,241 13,787 12,906 . 35,255
Totalfinancial liabilities 3,538,964 467,036 . 7,241 13,787 722,349 4,749,377
On-Balance Sheet interest repricing gap 784,286 (169,837) 260,917 61,093 (672,236) 264,223
Off-Balance Sheet interest repricing gap 1,152 (3.330) (106,134) 17,826 1 - (90,485)

The other assets and liabilities in 2021 include non-financial assets of £13,727,000 and include non-financial liabitities of532,7§2,000 which is not included in °
the table above. - ’ :

Restated to inctude net loan facitity fees of £4,147,988 in accordance with EIR accounting were incorrectly stated in prior years. The impact on 2020 would have
been £4,603,820. v
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29. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they fall

due, and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The Company manages its liquidity risk in such away as to ensurethat enough

liquidity is available to meet its commitments to customers, both in demand for loans and repayments of deposits, and to satisfy its own

cash flow needs. The Company also ensures that it seeks to com ply with all regulatory liguidity requirements. As'partof the Company’s

" overall Group Treasury management process, other banks within the EFG Group may place deposits, representing their surplus liquidity,
with the Company. These deposits are then typically placed by the Company in short -term money market assets. :

291 Liquidity risk management process

The Company attempts to avoid concentrations of its funding facilities. It observes its current liquidity situation and determines the pricing
of its assets and credit business. The Company also has a liquidity management process in placethat includes liquidity contlngency plans.
These contingency measures include liquidation of marketable securities and seeking parent company support

The Company seeks to comply with all'regulatory requirements, including overnightliquidity limits. In addition, itreports its liquidity
position to its management daily. Stress tests are undertaken monthly. Both the Company's capital and reserves position, and its
conservative approach to tenor when funding customer loans, assistin reducing the Company's exposure to liquidity risk.

The Company’s liquidity risk management process is carrled out by Treasury and monitored by the Asset and Liability Committee. It

includes:
day-to-day funding managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met This includes replemshmentas

they mature or are borrowed by customers of funds;

maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be tiquidated as protection against any unforeseen interruption‘to
cash flow; .
monitoring Balance Sheet liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements; and,

managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day, week and month respectively, as these
are key periods for liquidity managemert The starting pointfor those projections is an analysus of the contractual maturity of the financial
liabilities, and the expected collection date of the fnancval assets. .

Under the oversight of ALCO, Treasury also monitors unmatched medium-term assets and the usage of overdraft facilities. Sources of
liquidity are regularly reviewed by Treasury with the aim of maintaining diversification by currency, geography, provider, productand term.

29 2 Concentration risk

The overall level of liquidity exposureand correspondnng limits are tlghtly monitored by means of specrfc risk metrics approved by the
board of directors and in line with the Company's overall committed level of risk appetite.

" .The Company's concentration risks are managed through the following mechanisms:

monitoring of compliance with ALM, funding concentration and risk appetite limits assigned;

informing approval bodies when ALM, concentration and risk appetite limits are exceeded; and

proposing risk mitigation measures for ALM, concentration and risk appetite. thresholds.

293 Financial liabilities cash flows '
The table below analyses the Company's financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities, at the Balance Sheet date. The amounts

disctosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash ftows.

For more detailed information on off-Balance Sheet exposures by maturity, refer‘ to note 34.

i
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29 Liquidity risk (continued)
293 Financial liabilities cash flows (continued)

Up to1 1-3 3-12 1-5 " Overs

( month months months years years Total
£'000 £000 £000 - £'000 £000 £000
31 December 2022
Liabilities
Due to other banks 663,899 61,305 33,548 .- - . 758752
Due to customers ‘ 3,224,185 852,795 685,562 - : - 4762562
Derivative financial instruments . 7,640 813 264 4,886 ' - 13,603
Other financial liabilities” 9,888 - 65 307 7,525 ‘ 11,352 29,137
Total financial liabilities 3,905,612 914,978 " 719,681 -12,4Mm n352 5,564,034
31 December 2021
Liabilities
Due to other banks . 67.392 - - 244,833 | 226959 - 539,184
Due to customers 3,047,146 599,417 506,266 - - 4,152,829
Derivative financial instruments 10,262 6,300 1,843 3,704 - 22,109
" Other financial liabilities? . 13,415 51 : 761 7,241 13,787 35,255
Total financial liabilities 3,138,215 605,768 753,703 237,904 13,787 4,749,377
. o .

1Other liabilities in 2022 includes non-financial liabilities of £42,905,000 (2021: £32,722,000) which is not included in the table above.

30. Key management compensation

Accou nting Policy

‘The Company’s key management personnel comprise the members of the Executive Committee and the board’s non-executive directors.
{The followingamounts have been included in respect of these individuals. Aggregate amounts paid or treated as pand to key management
iin respect of qualifying services is as follows: - . oo

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

GBP GBP | .
Short-term employment benefits - ' 4129 . 4238
Share-based payments . . : 689 © 405
Defined contribution pension contributions 362 408
Total 5180 - 5,051

The highest paid member of key management is as disclosed for the highest paid director in note 7.

31.  Contingent liabilities

" The Company is involved in various legal and arbitration proceedings in the normal course of its business operations. The Com pany
establishes provisions (see Note 20)for currentand threatened pending legal-proceedings if management is of the opinion that the
Company is more likely than not to face payments or losses and if the amountof such payments or losses can be reliably estim ated.
As at-31 December 2022 there are no contlngent liabitities (2021: nil).
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32. Employee equity incentive plans

/

iyAccounting Policy : -

\The Company benefits from-the EFGI Employee Equity Incentive Plan (the ‘Plan’). The value of equity granted if relevant is linked to the
varlable compensation awarded to the staff member in the year. Equity settled schemes are measured at fair value at the date of grant,
which is then recognised in the Income Statement over the period from grant to the vesting date ofthe.shares. The number of share awards
expected to vest considers the likelihood that performance and services conditions included in theterms of the award will be mét. The'
‘charge is adjusted at each balance sheet date to reflect the actuat number of forfeitures, cancellations and leavers during the year. The
imovementln cumulative charges since the previous balance sheet is recogmsed in the Income Statement, with a correspondingentry in
equity. .
The value ofthe share-based awards was determined usinga model which considers the present value of the expected dividends during
the period between the grant date and the earliest exercise date. The significantinputs into the model were the arithmetic average share
prlce(closmg)of the five consecutive business days following the earnings announcement (CHF 6.98) and the discount determined by
management (20%) based on the expected life of the restricted stock units.

2022 2021
Number Number
The number of share-based awards outstanding at start of the year ' 2,872,040 2,991,953
Granted - L 805,269 1,016,116
Exercised A : ) . (992,885) (1,099,392) -
Forfeited ' (229,999) (36,637)
Outstandingat the end of the year . . 2,454:425 2,872,040
Weighted average remaining contractual life of awards outstandingin years ' 17 . 1.7
Number of share-based awards exercisable at the end of the year ’ . 571,618 557,199
The weighted average market price at the date of exercise . ’ CHF 724 CHF 7.24
The range of exercise prices for shares exercised during the year CHF 6.07 t0 849 CHF 59110 7.94
Total expense related to the Planin the Income Statement £4,214,000 £4,673,000

*The currency of this comparative has changed from £ to CHF to more accurately reflect the nature of share options -

33. Related party transactions

‘Accounting Policy

;lRelated parties include associates, fellow subsidiaries, their directors, their close families, companies owned or controlled by them and
companies whosefinancial and operating policies they can influence. Transactions of a similar nature are disclosed on an aggregate basis.

‘A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties. These include loans, deposits, derivative transactions and provision
‘of services. Theamounts due from other banks reflect cash deposits, which like other third-party amounts classified as due from other
banks are unsecured. Key management personnel comprise directors, key members of the management of the Company and those of EFGI,
as well as closely linked parties. No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans glven to related parties (2021: nit).
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33. Related party transactions (continued)

o As at 31 December

Assets

Due from other banks

Loans and advances to-customers
Derivatives

Other assets

Liabilities 4
Due to other banks

Due to customer

Derivatives

Other liabilities

Guarantees issued
Creditlimits
Payments for shares in EFGI

Year ended 31 December

interest income

Interest expense

Fee and commission income

‘Fee and commission expenses

Net other income

Operating expenses

Dividend income -
Dividends paid ’

. 2022

Companies within Key management
_personneland
otherrelated

the EFGI Group
£000

29,505
58,118
10,833

756,306
46,548
6,277
7,531

101

(5;229)

4,927
(19,040)

\
5,415

(466)
21,983
(12,762)

parties
£'000

1,077
(21)
2,589
(1,678)
76

201

Companies Key management-

within the EFGI
Group

¢

£000

80,696

6,655
8,495

533,096-

102,157
21,297
10,906

1066

' (5,681)

-1,083
(13,803)
11,503
(433)
77.179
(17,865)
30,000
(89,000)

" personneland

otherrelated
parties
£000

897

This note does not include the compensation paid to key management personnel in relation to their employmentservices, which have been

separately disclosed in note 30.

34. Capital management

The Company’s objectives when managing regulatory capltal are to comply with the capltal requirements set by the PRA to safeguard the

Company's ability to contmue as a goingconcern.

Capitaladequacy

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are continually monitored and.reported by the Company's management, using the
directive developed by the Bank of England. The regulatory capital requurement is ultimately determined by the rules implemented by the

PRA.

_For 2022, the Company reports regulatory capital using IFRS as a basis. The Group's eligible capital comprises two tiers:

Tier 1capital: share capital (net of any book value of treasury shares), non-controlling interests arising on consolidation from interests in
‘permanent shareholders’ equity, retained earnings, subordinated loans, addmonal eqwty components and reserves created by

appropriations of retained earnings:

Tier 2 capital: Unrealised gains arisingon the fair valuation of financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensiveincome.

Risk-weighted assets are determined accordingto specified r’equirerﬁents which reflect the varying levels of risk attached to assets and off-
balance sheet exposures, and mcludeamounts in respect of creditrisk, market risk, non-counterparty-related risk, settlement risk, and

operational risk.
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34. Capital Management (continued)

The following table summarises the composition ofrégulatory capital and the ratios of the Company for the years ended 31 December 2022

and 2021.

‘Common equity tier 1 capital (audited)
Total capital

* Total risk weighted assets

Common equity tier 1 capital ratio
Total capital ratio

35. Off-balance sheet items

Year ended

31 December 2022 Unaudited

Em
165.6
2323

15237

. Year ended

31 December 2022 Unaudited
%

10.9%

15.2%

The following table summarises the Company's Off-balance sheet items by maturity:

. Yearended
31 December 2021 Unaudited

fm
195.2 .

2618
1317.8

Year ended

31 December 2021 Unaudited
' %

14.8%

19.9%

1-5 years

! Not later than 1 year Over5 years Total
. ~ £000 £000 £'000 £000
31 December 2022 . i
Guarantees issued in favour of third parties 5,549 11,39 ' - . 16,940
Guarantees issued infavour of group companies 101~ - - 101
Irrevocable commitments 36,729 97,081 - 133,810
Total 42,379 108,472 - 150,851
31 December 2021 . .
Guarantees issued in favour of third parties 3,990 4,462 - 8,452
Guarantees issued in favour of group companies 976 90 . - 1,066
Irrevocable commitments 8,849 10436 3,792 123,077
Total 13,815 114,98¢ 3,792 132,595

The financial guarantees maturities are based on the éarliest contractual maturity date. The irrevocable commitments maturities are based
on the dates on which loan commitments madeto customers will cease to exist. - These commitments can be drawn down immediately.

‘Restated to move the Card Limits of £3462,250 from Irrevocable Commitments (Not later than 1year) to Guarantees Issued in favourofthird partes (1-5 years)in 2021 as these ae

guarantees.

36. Post balance sheet events

In November 2022 the Company decided to change the Company's-treasury business model for the management of the investment

securities portfolio from “Hold to Collectand Sell” to “Hold to Collect”. The Company will hold investment securities to maturity to benefit
from coupon payments and will not seek to sell the current investmentsecurities ahead of maturity. The Company assess thereis no
impacton the liquidity profile of the portfolio in stress scenarios and the portfolio will continued be classified as HQLA. The
implementation of this strategi,c business model change will lead to an accounting reclassification of the portfolio from 1 January 2023, from
“Hold to Collectand Sell” to “Hold to Collect” reflected in an’increase in carry value of debt instruments of £24,388,000 from £ 1,487,411,000-

to £1,511,799,000.
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